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GENERAL COMMITTEE 

!!�it 

REPORT OF THE GENERAL COMMITTEE !l¥fl¥il* 
(FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER, 2003 /!e� 2003 iF 12 A 31 SJliFN) 

The General Committee has pleasure in presenting its report together 

with the financial statements for the year ended 31'1 December, 2003. 

R__EBlNCIPAI ACTIVITIES 
The role of the Chamber is to promote, represent and safeguard the 

interests of the Hong Kong business community. 
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The state of the Chamber's affairs at 3151 December, 2003 and the result � · �fiJ�� 56� 70 � o 

for the year ended are set out in the financial statements on pages 56· 7 0. 

Lii_.L 
• ASSETS 1f:I?<Pl'-\e�i1B��tilL5L · ��wmJJ!if�¥1H�HIH1�2� 

Details of the movements in assets are shown in notes 2-8 to the financial 8 J� o 

statements. 

._G.ENEBALGO_MMITTEE MEMBERS 
The General Committee Members who held office during the year are 

set out on pages 2 and 3. No Member of the General Committee, or 

any other Members of the Chamber, received any form of remuneration 

in return for their services, other than normal professional or similar 

fees paid for services or supplies rendered to the Chamber and no 

portion of the income or property of the Chamber was paid or transferred 

directly or indirectly by way of dividend, bonus or otherwise to Members 

of the Chamber. 

LLNIERESI IN CONTRACTS 
No contract of significance to which the Chamber was a party and in 

which a General Committee Member had a material interest subsisted 

at the end of the year nor at any time during the year . 

• AlJDITORS 
A resolution for the re-appointment of KPMG as auditors of the Chamber 

is to be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

By Order of the General Committee, 

Anlhony Nightingale 

Chairman 

on 23 March, 2004 
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lt is a pleasure to report to members the developments in your Chamber 

in 2003. The year was a milestone for Hong Kong, for several reasons and 

not all of them pleasant. Although we experienced one of the most difficult 

periods, some 12 months ago, as the concerns about SARS swept through 

society, we can take comfort in the strong rebound in confidence that took 

place in the second half of the year. The battle against SARS brought our 

community together in a common cause, and that spirit, I believe, will serve 

us well as we take on new challenges in 2004 and beyond. Your Chamber 

played an active role in confirming Hong Kong as the best business and 

financial center in the Asia-Pacific region, and in working to ensure that we 

remain on top. The response from our members has been encouraging, as 

reflected in the strong turnout for conferences, roundtables, committee 

meetings and delegations abroad. 

The most pressing issue during 2003, and one which no one could 

have predicted, was tackling the myriad of challenges arising from SARS. 

While our excellent healthcare workers risked their lives to understand and 

control the spread of the disease, your Chamber presented facts to counter 

often-hysterical media reports. particularly in the international media. As a 

leading participant in the Economic Relaunch Strategy Group, we helped 

lay the foundations for the recovery. 
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CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW 

��� *-

Through committee meetings, lunchtime roundtables and a major 

conference-"Business After SARS" -your Chamber gathered, analysed 

and disseminated practical information and policy recommendations for 

minimising the risk of infectious diseases. One of the most widely welcomed 

initiatives was an information circular members were asked to send to their 

overseas contacts, explaining the real risks and current situation in Hong 

Kong. Chamber delegations also took to the road to spread the word, 

including missions to France, Spain, Portugal, Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou, 

Xiamen and other major Chinese cities. 

The Chamber surveyed members in April for suggestions on what policy 

initiatives to recommend to government as a means of stimulating economic 

recovery and minimising the impact on business. Many of the hundreds of 

responses were incorporated into a formal submission, which included 

measures to alleviate short-term cash-flow problems among SMEs, which 

was subsequently put into practice by the government. 

While we supported the emergency fiscal measures that were wholly 

justified in the face of a sharp, short shock, we remained committed to reducing 

overall government spending and curbing the dangerously large budget deficit. 

We returned to this theme as soon as it was clear that the effect of SARS on 

the economy was receding. Earlier in the year, in February of 2003, your 

Chamber produced a pay level comparison survey that delineated the difference 
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between government jobs and their equivalents in the private sector. lt was 

the first comprehensive pay level comparison survey of civil service and private 

sector pay, by any organisation, since 1 986. 

As concerted efforts by our dedicated healthcare workers and their 

colleagues in the rest of China and around the world brought SARS under 

control, a new challenge emerged. Due to a variety of reasons, more than 
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It is up to us, the business community, to make the most of the CEPA opportunity, 

and to work to ensure that Hong Kong remains the international business, trade 

and finance center of Asia. L j(tj Ji fi!Mft/ll r Jf jf!{Hfr J M JiftfHJJ!!l ' 
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500,000 people took to the streets on July 1st to express their political 

views. What is remarkable is that the demonstration was entirely peaceful, 

resulted in no injuries, did not involve looting or rioting, and contained none 

of the ethnic, religious, class or "anti-business" sentiments so common in 

similar events around the world. The next day, everyone was back at work. 

The demonstration against national security legislation, or Article 23, 

began the growing concern for the future political development of the SAR, 

the principle of its relations with the Central People's Government, and the 

quality of political discourse. As the year drew to a close, constitutional 

development emerged in public debate. I am proud to say that in both cases 

your Chamber has been a voice in favour of patient and comprehensive 

consultation, clear-headed reason and a moderate course. In developing our 

Chamber's position on these matters [Article 23], as on all important issues, 

we listen closely to the views of our members, expressed through our many 

committees, and discuss matters thoroughly in General Committee meetings. 

The new Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement (CEPA) between 

Hong Kong and the Mainland of China was a dominant theme in Chamber 

•·*•·�m�r&RMJffl·o�B · AA�m 

�f}Io 

m�mfi£*7&�•�*����·��23 

�·��&�m��������a�vaM�·• 

�w�� �fi���JJl't�· �&•��a�••o 

2oo3 :qow,;�7'C�s£M · m�!Ha*'Jg�:L}��1� o 

am��-·�·••e•��afiffi��fi•�m 

�·m�•�� ·a••=�o-���Mm••• 

� .  �'®'�1�Mlrc9@ (�23{1*) n:iE���� . !SJ�J&l 
MB��••a•a�-�·���-···��A 

�81 ° 

�i!*'f��HT� r��\t'#§.��{*���J · £#!'& 

ime:¥�.mf!!liii'F o @]�2ooo:¥m; · 2jl;ff$$femi� 
����ft��•�•m·A�BM����afift 

h3ZM · ��2003:tf�IlJU�rx* o ���t� · �� 
4ij .Fl �HM � :.!-' � -!J:: � � 9x> H�!� lf- � � · ft£ �raJ Jil J3! 
thh M'.®' � r'J m r � �� J · JaJJ � � � fM ut � ;tJ; o 

-



CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW 

3::.!1t¥&1S� 

events during the year, and rightly so. Back in late 2000, the notion of a 

free-trade agreement first arose within the Chamber and with the strong 

backing of the HKSAR and Central People's governments, finally came to 

fruition at mid-year 2003. On average, the Chamber held more than one 

conference or roundtable every month on some aspect of how members 

can best make use of CEPA. 

The year also saw a host of distinguished guests speak at Chamber 

events. Among them were astronaut Yang Liwei, Nobel Laureates Prof Rolf 

Zinkernagel and Sir James Mirrlee, Belgium Prime Minister Guy Verhofstadt, 

US Consul General James Keith and Liaoning Governor Bo Xilai. Government 

officials from Home Affairs, Housing, Planning and Lands, the Civil Service, 

Education ·and Manpower and Constitutional Affairs offices also visited the 

Chamber to speak with members off-the-record in our 'Town Hall' series. 

Inside the Chamber "family", the popular " Conversations with a General 

Committee Member" series continued with in-coming Chairman Anthony 

Nightingale, Membership Committee Chairman David Eldon and GC 

members Victor Li and Marjorie Yang. 

The coming year should be a significantly better one for Hong Kong's 

economy. While we certainly need to carry through with initiatives started 

or continuing on from 2003, the solid, steady economic expansion among 

our major business partners and improving domestic economy bode well 

for the SAR. it is up to us, the business community, to make the most of 

the CEPA opportunity, and to work to ensure that Hong Kong remains the 

international business, trade and finance center of Asia. 
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year than in either 2002 or 2001, and while the numbers are not final, that 

certainly seems to be the case in both the US and East Asia. There are, 

however, increasing global economic concerns. Overly large fiscal deficits 

in Europe and the US (albeit, not as large as a percent of GDP as is the 

case in Hong Kong) limit governments' abilities to react to slower growth 

or external shocks. The steady decline in the value of the US dollar, and 

increasing pressure on China to revalue are a cause for concern. In 

combination with growing protectionism in the US and the collapse of the 

Cancun round of trade talks, the dangers to trade are clearly rising. 

Mainland China remains the driving force in Hong Kong's economy, 

and increasingly, that of the rest of East Asia. The 37.1 percent rise in two­

way trade recorded last year provided critical business for Hong Kong 

companies amid the SARS-1nduced slump in domestic demand. More than 

55 percent of all China's trade arises from foreign-invested enterprises, 

and Hong Kong-based companies comprise the largest share, at nearly 45 

percent of cumulative foreign investment. Moreover, the rise of tourism 

from the Mainland of China to Hong Kong, in part because of easier visa 

rules, proved to be the most important factor in overcoming the impact of 

SARS. Hong Kong's own trade expanded sharply during the year, rising 

1 1 .6 percent over 2002. Hong Kong ranks 1Oth in the world in merchandise 

trade and in trade in services. Within the total, services, which are about 

1 5  per cent of two-way trade, were hurt by the loss of tourism during the 

SARS period, but are recovering well. 

Hong Kong cannot avoid external shocks and still remain the most open 

and free economy in the world. SARS cost us dearly last year, prolonging 
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our struggle with deflation increasing our unemployment. Although we lost 

over 10,000 jobs last year, that was little more than half the rate of 2002. 

While that may be little comfort to those seeking work, the reduction in the 

unemployment rate since the third quarter is promising. By late in the year, 

it was clear that consumer price deflation is finally coming to an end. Property 

prices picked up strongly in the last months of 2003 and the earliest 

measures of price change are all showing better-than-expected figures. 

As briefly mentioned above, our fiscal balance deteriorated in the past 

three years, and work is needed to both reduce recurrent spending and 

broaden the tax base. The best time to make the tough decisions is when 
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Your Chamber is working hard to ensure that Hong Kong is prepared for what 

faces us in the future, and that we are well equipped to weather the typhoons 
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business and consumer confidence are rising, and before decisions are 

forced upon us. Just as national security legislation and constitutional 

development require us to adhere to the terms laid down in the Basic Law, 

so too, does that document compel us to restrict ourselves to a low tax 

and balanced fiscal position. 

The Chamber has long been a strong voice for reducing the overall size 

of Government. improving efficiencies through structural reforms and 

bringing compensation packages back in line with those in the private sector. 

Our pay comparison survey last year and a similar comparison of benefits 

carried out in conjunction with the Employers Federation of Hong Kong 

clearly show that there is a great deal that needs to be done. We do not 

favour continually cutting civil service pay until the budget balances; that 

would foolishly risk an increase in corruption and a deterioration in service. 

Rather, we need to remove entire functions from the hand of government, 

and look to the private sector to provide more of our community services. 

In the face of the Asian Financial Crisis, the bursting of the high-tech financial 

bubble, recession and SARS, government rightly took steps to ease the tax 

burden. Now. as we emerge from the necessary price adjustments forced on 

us since the late 1 990s, we need to return to the long-delayed need to tighten 

our fiscal belt. Broadening the tax base will ensure that the burden of financing 

government is more equitably shared among those who benefit from public 

services. This will entail sacrifices by all sectors of society - business, 

consumers, salary workers and government - but to postpone these necessary 

steps until the economy magically cures itself would be courting disaster. 
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--._concluding Remarks_ 

The past year will be marked with an asterisk as one that should have 

been better but wasn't, primarily due to events outside of our control. 

Because we are the most international business center in the world, we 

have to expect the unexpected, move quickly to take advantage of arising 

opportunities and retain the resources to cope with unanticipated reversals. 

Your Chamber is working hard to ensure that Hong Kong is prepared for 

what faces us in the future, and that we are well equipped to weather the 

typhoons always lurking just over the horizon. We pride ourselves in being 

a clear voice of reason within the SAR's business community, and will 

continue to speak out on behalf of our members, our society and our belief 

that Hong Kong is special. 

To do so, we need to remain financially sound, enhance our service to 

members and expand our numbers. As we stride fully into CEPA and more 

deeply integrate with the rest of China, we will be guided by our overall 

mission of safeguarding, representing and promoting the interests of the 

Hong Kong business community, at home and abroad. 

In closing, I would like to extend my personal thanks to Deputy Chairman 

David Eldon, our three Vice-Chairmen: Lily Chiang, Anthony Wu and K K 

Yeung; Our Legislative Council Representative in the Commercial (First) 

functional constituency, The Honourable James Tien, continues his fine work 

on behalf of the Chamber, its members, and the entire business community. 

I would also like to thank the many members of our Chamber committees. 

and particularly the officers of those committees. They are the backbone of 

this Chamber, and contribute tirelessly, and their work is deeply appreciated. 

Finally, I would like to express my thanks and gratitude to the Chamber 

CEO, Or Eden Woon, and his staff for their tremendous contribution during 

the year. They stepped up to the challenges of 2003 with dedication, good 

ideas and hard work. To you, members, I would like to extend an open 

invitation to raise your own ideas and suggestions with the Chamber 

Secretariat, and to wish every success in your business and to Hong Kong 

overall in the year ahead. 

Anthony Nightingale, 

Chairman 
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The Chamber's fortunes for 2003 almost exactly mirrored Hong Kong's 

fortunes for the year. The Chamber started 2003 with enthusiasm and 

optimism, with our continual pressing for CEPA to be agreed upon between 

the HKSAR and the Central governments, and with membership renewal at 

a high rate in early 2003, signalling both an appreciation for our services and 

a better economy. Then came SARS. We found ourselves battling a disease 

which was horrifying, it turns out, not in its medical effects, but in its mystery. 

To be sure, thousands got infected, and hundreds unfortunately succumbed 

to the disease. but the impact on society and the economy went far beyond 

that. When we received in April almost 300 replies to our request for ideas to 

combat the economic devastation of SARS, we could tell the anguish, the 

sorrow, the anger, the eagerness to help, and the determination in these 

replies. Our members were deeply affected economically and emotionally, 

but they were united in their resolve to conquer this disease and return Hong 

Kong to its glory days again. We sent all these ideas and sentiments into the 

government, which came up with a rescue plan that was largely based on 

your input to the Chamber. 

Luckily, none of the Chamber staff or their families got infected, and 

we were able to operate as best as we could to continue our services to 

members. We gave discounts on programs and discounts on certificate 

of origin applications. We conducted programs to help members cope 

with the highly unusual business situation. We rallied our membership to 

tell the whole world what Hong Kong was doing and our spirit even in the 

darkest days of April and May. In the spring, we organised two very 

meaningful missions, one to Guangzhou and the other to Shanghai. telling 

the world and telling China that our relationship with the Pearl River Delta 

and the Yangtze River Delta is so close that an epidemic is not going to 

deter us from normal interaction. 

The Chamber also joined in community efforts to unite our citizens and 

lift our spirits. The Chamber was a board member in both "Operation Unite" 

and "Hong Kong is Our Home," which were campaigns to help society at 

large, and SARS victims and health workers in particular. All in all. although 
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the number of visitors to the Chamber dropped dramatically during the spring, 

our workload did not decrease at all, as we tried to help our members and 

Hong Kong get through the most fearful period in recent memory here. 

In June, when it was clear that Hong Kong was winning the battle against 

the epidemic, we organised a major full-day program at the airport called 

"Taking off with Hong Kong" featuring a "Business After SARS" program 

that had almost 500 people attending on a Saturday afternoon and a fifty­

table gala fundraising banquet in the departure hall. 

Then a major pleasant surprise, which had the Chamber's fingerprints 

all over it, happened on June 29, 2003, after months of no public news. 

Premier Wen Jiabao presided over the signing of CEPA between the Central 

and the HKSAR governments. The Chamber first proposed in early 2000 

the idea to the HKSAR Government, and eighteen months after negotiations 

started in July 2002, which had continual Chamber input, this historic 

agreement was concluded, with far reaching benefits to our members who 

do business with China. 

That triggered a tremendous interest by local, foreign and China business 

communities in CEPA and in re-evaluating Hong Kong's role as a platform to 

and from China. The Chamber did its part by publicising the benefits of 

CEPA far and wide - over 70 speeches on CEPA were given by the Chamber 

in Hong Kong, inside China, and overseas. We received over 50 delegations 

from the Mainland discussing CEPA-induced cooperation. And the 

recognition that the Chamber had been behind CEPA right from the beginning 

and relentlessly through the past couple of years flowed to the Chamber. 

Madam Wu Yi, Vice Premier of China , specifically acknowledged the 

Chamber's role in our high-level visit to Beijing in September and praised the 

Chamber for thinking up this " innovative and creative" suggestion. 

What is most important of course, is that our members are beginning 

to benefit from CEPA both directly and indirectly. Directly since many are 

looking at ways to expand in or enter into China. Indirectly since the Hong 

Kong economy's rebound in the last six months of 2003 can be traced in a 

large part to the stimulation's of commercial activity and the rise of 

confidence due to CEPA. 
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But we did not let CEPA deter us from other work on behalf of the 

members. Look at the accompanying chart on the next page and you will 

see the large number of activities we conducted for our members this past 

year, with many not related to CEPA but to the everyday challenges and 

opportunities of business in China. Along with helping to fight SARS and 

to make CEPA useful to as many as possible, lobbying the government on 

issues ranging from Article 23, to better governance, to cutting costs, 

occupied a good part of our time. 

On Article 23, we fully supported enacting legislation to implement it, 

but we recognised right from the beginning the sensitivities of the community 

and the need for thorough and patient consultation. This is why we asked 

for a White Paper earlier than any other organisation did, back in fall 2002. 

And as the consultation continued with increasing difficulty, we were 

troubled with the confrontation that resulted and we continued to ask for 

patience and responsiveness on the part of the government. At the end, 

despite the fact that we did - and still support - legislation to implement 

Article 23, we wanted the consultation done better and more sensitively. 

We represented our members when we said this several times to the HKSAR 

Government, and we broadened that to a plea for better governance to 

resolve some urgent problems such as cutting expenses and balancing 

the budget. In short, we did not shy away from issues of community concern 

behind the phrase: ·we are business people and we don't do politics, • 

because we realise that politics affect business. This is why we plan to 

participate in 2004 and beyond in the discussions on the deep and broad 

concern in the community regarding the topic of constitutional development. 

The tumultuous year of 2003 ended with our members looking once 

again optimistically ahead. The Chamber, just like the HKSAR, not only 

survived SARS but actually had a record financial year which saw a healthy 

surplus. This was despite providing broad discounts to members for several 

months during SARS. We did it the old fashioned way, by cutting costs 

and headcount, raising value, and improving service. We do not need more 

money from our members, but we do need more support for our activities 

and services and more ideas on how we can help you. That is something 

we will continue to work on in 2004. 

2003 ended on a high note, including a record setting membership 

renewal pace at the end of the year. No matter what turbulence comes in 

2004, you can be assured that the Chamber will be right alongside helping 

to ride through the storm. 

� rti:m J · � :n oo  Et.:J �  JJ t:.f;{fft�f5J o 1±� 1¥ n J'l  

Et.:J���*�·� · � � �-��···*·�lli� 

® 1 �IJ *If J Et.:JJtfA o 

� � · ���Et.:J� · � * � ��� ����m� 

f ti: HFJ�.ful o ��fl't�/Jlm · M'�* � lE�)tlJU.�9X 
� !i! 9  �rnt� · :¥: iJHa9 � H� · �AH�)�tE 2003 1:f 

T*�mm · � � � � � � � m J M�••�-�� 

�� · •�•tt• � r ti: m J ffi�m��••• 

� Et.:JI� o �� � � · u��� � a * • •���� 

• · a � � � w r � m J • • · � �H�1:E��-� 

Et.:l * � m • �•� o � • JJm• r � ± J ��� r tf  

HF J � :§: 9� · $ ff ift.(� T /f y IEHe9 $t � flm rc9 J�UH5l ii� 

fi · �� m 2s • · ��-� - o�w o 

Ufl',+n-5tfflal'tbffim2si'*fl5t · fgm-rm� · 

u�-�� rn�Et.:J• • · ��-�fi�•����m 

�ii]�� 0 2002�f** ' * • � )t §g :::j:t�J0�� 8 � 1!t  

• · a � � �m�����mB · ft� + n- � � � �  

��Et.:Jlie�� · M��m�Eai0�M�tt · @ S 

rn�Et.:J a��:>¥: 0 iil'IE**f!l� sz 1��JtMg�2sl�fz.5t . 

ill �*��l0ft�H��� --�-fiM� o ft� l  

� � -�ft�• • �M��fi&�•� · � � � *a 

fi �j(: � rg 5� · tJ � 5.R: :fr:r: j@_ t:JJF,9 Jrn · �I] �u >� lffl sz t-o 3:JL 

�ffl� o M � Z · &��-®·m � - � � � � · �  

ft/fH� � �-A/f·M��J � � � · ��ft� � a  

ii!z5�*���jlij o ftfr,�til:IJ-1± 2oo4 � flltt��Et.:J a T­
• · •�•�lieMwfll•����aMBm � • o 

�;ffi�t�� 2003 1:f B  ��� · � · �1M·J1U�}/)( 

��-· · - �M� · $ ·�D f�±J �8 · � fz. 

�� · f5J � · ft�-���mDm � � * � m� � �  

s• · m1:f�M�ro��M o ft��m������ 

� � ��a · S MM�� $ � A � · � ffi & & � ­

& o ft�-��-· ft · ill� · Et.:l·� � & ·=�� 

* � 5t 1� · � .El. � lli � � - �  o 2oo4 � · Ufr,�� 

t.lt !1HiH§ /J H �� 8 �m�� · 
2oos 1:f 1:E'twlt:k: Et.:J ;i\'t �rnenR · * • tfi � $ � �  

���� � #.c� o �-��t�m · /f'§'�;{!;� 2004 1:f @ *  

!HJ2!. l!J �  · ftfP, llitH�fl]\ - ��31 o 

Eden Y Woon � 1-;J. � 
CEO � �  



A snapshot of Chamber events in 2003 

Luncheon Talks 

�- fl' ,j, <1 

Committee Meetings 

� t"J A  ��i'i. 

CEPA Events 

r � v :::� {f 

� lt;  

Fellowship Events 

Outbound Trips/Missions 

�)��n�tl.6 t �- ·¥ � 
Town Hall Forum/ 

Conversation with a 

General Committee 

Member 

bl$ ... !1 /  fW !!il & *  
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Incoming Delegations/ 

Events 

�-

1 1 4 

60 

1 8 . 

1 67 

55 

1 9  

14 

Bus1ness Matching 1 73 

!� 1� �Ji :g I J@i }i �;.! ., �ft 
Others �H&Jt� 

Trade Documents Issued 

� �rzt � x f41n fY 
Press appearances 

706,2 1 3  

i n  print media 2.859 

{i £1' � ;J .. .:±l � ;- I'; 
Press appearances 

in broadcast media 1 23 
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International Business Division 

� ����*B 

The International Business Division is responsible for developing and promoting global 

business connections and the provision of services to Chamber members interested in 

establishing business contacts outside of Hong Kong. If is responsible for collecting 

the views of members on business and trade issues and making these views known to 

the relevant authorities. lt organises outgoing missions and hosts meetings for 

incoming delegations and visitors from abroad. If also provides secretarial support to 

trade area committees and other special interest committees of the Chamber. 
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The year 2003 represented an extraordinary twelve months for the 2003 � � �� '* � �lj tr.:l - � o B rA  ...t-¥ � �3 iJJ ii 
International Business Division. Despite very few activities taking place i n  'lll' � �t: !ll! � llrP � :lJ � iffi jf.X j,' · f§!lm�lH .'f � W� jU� 

the first half of the year due to the SARS epidemic, business soon returned H� t2 m J � 1\ fl � U · � � im m fJ� ><. )5 31 �IJ � o 

to its usual brisk pace following the signing of the Closer Economic 

Partnership Arrangement (CEPA) in June. • f � � � nf J 

LCEPA 

To help members understand and get the most out of CEPA, the 

Chamber launched a series of CEPA workshop in June,  which ran 

throughout the remainder of the year. These focused on a wide spectrum 

of issues relating to CEPA, from a detailed assessment of the arrangement, 

to workshops relating to individual sectors, to how to fill out CEPA CO 

application forms. The Chamber's CEPA experts, industry specialists and 

government officials from both Hong Kong and the Mainland spoke at these 

events which were attended by over 1 , 500 members. 

The Chamber also participated in approximately 70 CEPA related events 

held in Hong Kong, and in the Trade Development Council's CEPA SME 

Expo. lt also published a "CEPA Report - A Business Assessment" in 

October. Designed to help businesses decide how they can take advantage 

of the CEPA, 1 ,300 copies of the report had been sold as of February 

2004, and is available in English and Chinese versions. 

The International Business Division is also responsible tor answering 

CEPA-related inquiries from members, as well as overseas businesses. In 

the six months following the signing of CEPA, the Chamber received almost 

2,000 inquiries relating to the agreement, and over 60 Mainland visitors and 

delegations who wanted to explore opportunities with Hong Kong businesses. 

To further disseminate information on CEPA, the Division set up a Web page 

in July 2003, which as of December had generated 70,000 hits. 

LDihe.LCh i na .Activities 

The Chamber established a Pearl River Delta (PRO) task force to design 

and work on PRO related projects. The Division organized six PRO 
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roundtable workshops as part of this project. More detailed reports on PAD­

related activities organised by other divisions in the Chamber can be found 

elsewhere in this annual report. 

In 2003 the Division organised several study missions to Mainland China, 

including a 40-member China Committee Working Mission in February, and 

the first Hong Kong business delegation to Guangdong on May 20 after the 

SARS epidemic. The 24-member delegation was received by Guangdong 

Governor Huang Huahua and Guangzhou Mayor Zhang Guangning. 

In June, the Chamber organized a 1 60-member weekend trip to 

Shanghai to tell the world that both China and Hong Kong were back to 

"business as usual" after SARS. Shanghai Mayor Han Zheng welcomed 

the mission leaders_ The annual high-level business delegation to Beijing in 

September, led by Chamber Chairman Anthony Nightingale, was received 

by Vice Premier Madam Wu Yi. The Division also organized trips to Xiamen 

for the 7th China International Fair for Investment and Trade, Beijing for the 

7th Beijing-Hong Kong Economic Cooperation Symposium, and to Shanghai 

in November for the 2nd Shanghai- Hong Kong Metropolitan Conference. 

Round table luncheons on China organised by the Division continued to be 

very popular with members, in addition to other China-related events. These 

included a meeting with Huang Mengfu, newly elected Chairperson of the All­

China Federation of Industry & Commerce; a General Committee breakfast 

meeting with Yang Wenchang, the new Commissioner of the Commissioner 

office of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the PRC in the HKSAR; and a luncheon 

for then Governor of Liaoning Bo Xilai (now Minister of Commerce). 

The Division continued to enhance relations with Mainland businesses 

and associations, and eo-hosted a networking cocktail with the Hong 

Kong Chinese Enterprises Association in July, among other events. The 

Joint Business Liaison Committee, which the Chamber helped establish, 
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organized a conference in January and held its Annual General Meeting • W ii _-:- §I �t � � � f'F � � iWl 
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• ___ HKJBCC _ 

The 1 4th Joint Meeting of the Hong Kong-Taipei Business Cooperation 

Committee (HKTBCC) and the Chinese Taipei-Hong Kong Business 

Cooperation Committee was held in November. 
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LJnternational Business Affai rs 
During the year under review, the Division organized outgoing missions 

to India in January, Vietnam in March, and a mission to France, Spain and 

Portugal in September. 

The Division also organised various seminars, workshops, roundtable 

discussions and luncheons in 2003 to provide members with expert opinions 

on topical business issues. Among the high- profile speakers at these events 

were: Suresh Prabhu, Honourable Member of Parliament, India; John Walls 

Cushnahan, Member of European Parliament and Rapporteur of the first 

and second European Parliament report on Hong Kong; The Honorable 

Guy Verhofstadt, Prime Minister of Belgium; James Keith, Consul General 

of the United States of America; and Richard Fisher, Vice Chairman, 

Kissinger Mclarty Associates. 

The Division also continued to organise more business matching 

meetings for members with business-matching delegations from Hungary, 

Poland, France, Sweden, Miami-Dade County, San Francisco, and Quebec 

being organized during the year. 

More networking functions were also held in 2003, with cocktail 

receptions in honour of Consuls General of countries in the Asia-Pacific, 

Africa and Americas being organized, in addition to joint luncheons. 

LEacific. Basin Economic. CounciL(PBEC) 
Following a year of reform for PBEC, Hong Kong's PBEC chapter kicked 

off 2003 with a Spring Cocktail Reception in March. At its 1 4th Annual 

General Meeting in June, David Eldon was re-elected Chairman, and 

members were updated on the progress of "The New PBEC' campaign. 

In October, a 1 0-member delegation attended the 36th International 

General Meeting of PBEC in Seoul, South Korea, while the mid-term meeting 

was held in Bangkok, later in the same month. At the meeting, the board 

approved PBEC's new strategy and restructuring program, including the 

relocation of PBEC international from Honolulu, Hawaii to Hong Kong. At 

the meeting , Arthur Kobler was appointed President of PBEC International. 
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Business Policy Division 

I "Fm lE�� :g:B 

The Business Policy Division is responsible for formulating the Chamber's views on 

public policies affecting business, especially relating to small and medium enterprises, 

environment, industry and technology and service industries. 
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•- Overview of Major Activities 
Without doubt, 2003 was an extraordinary year, which resulted in the 

Division conducting a few unusual projects - SARS, CEPA and 'Pearl for 

Youth' - in addition to reviewing the advisory committees system of the 

Chamber and government. 

SARS 
During the SARS outbreak, the Division and its committees, especially 

the Travel/Tourism Committee and the SME Committee, contributed 

significantly to the Chamber's response to the epidemic. In April, the 

Chamber submitted a proposed package of relief measures, "In view of the 

effect of SARS on the Hong Kong economy," to the government. Many of 

these recommendations were adopted when the government unveiled its 

economic rescue package. 

The Division also organised a " Business Despite SARS" seminar in May 

with other divisions in the Chamber, and contributed to a Chamber paper 

on "Re-invigorate, Re-launch and Re-build," which was submitted to the 

Chief Executive in May tor Hong Kong's "comeback campaign . "  

CEPA and China 
The historic signing of the Mainland/Hong Kong Closer Economic 

Partnership Arrangement (CEPA), on June 29, 2003, and the signing again 

on September 29 of the six Annexes, were the culmination of many months 

of work within the Chamber, in which this Division played a substantial role. 
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The Division contributed to the Chamber's CEPA studies, both before 

and after CEPA was signed, with many of the Chamber's policy proposals 

being reflected in the CEPA text. it also played an active role in explaining 

CEPA to members through a series of CEPA roundtable workshops, to 

overseas visitors, and in various seminars held by professional bodies and 

community groups. The Division also contributed to the "CEPA Business 

Assessment" report, which was published in October. 

Pearl River Delta 

As part of the Chamber's internal task force on the Pearl River Delta, the 

Division helped develop and run the Chamber's PRO initiative. This included 

a series of PRO roundtable luncheons, and a conference organised with the 

Central Policy Unit on "The New Era of the Pearl River Delta" in January. At 

the conference, the Chamber championed the concept of a 'PRO Council," 

an idea that was later put forward by the Chief Executive in August. 

The Division's main PRO project during the year was "Pearl for Youth" 

- a programme initiated by the Chamber and Standard Chartered Bank 

and supported by the Hong Kong Federation of Youth Groups. The 

programme aims to build up the capacity and competitiveness of young 

people by encouraging them to consider developing their careers on the 

Mainland. Since its launch in January, the year-long project resulted in two 

studies being produced on employment opportunities for Hong Kong youth's 

in the PRO. The Division also published a "Living and Working in the PRO" 

Guidebook for Hong Kong youths. Some 1 1  ,000 copies of the highly 

acclaimed guidebook have been distributed. 
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The project culminated in a "Pearl for Youth" study m1ssion to the PRD 

in December. The 80-member delegation visited Mainland companies in 

the PRD and concluded with a seminar in Shenzhen at which more than 

200 Hong Kong youths participated. 

Advisory Committees 

The Division co-ordinated a review of the Terms of Reference of all 

Chamber committees. The guidelines were subsequently revised and 

became effective in June. During the year, the Chamber submitted two 

papers to the government addressing the need to review the role and 

functions of public sector advisory and statutory bodies. 

• Envi ronment, Industry and SMEs 
The Division houses an active " industrial" function in championing 

environmental protection, promoting industry and technology, and 

safeguarding the interest of small and medium enterprises. 

Environment 

The Environment Committee made progress on the subject of waste 

�.HfiJ � � � 
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management, with programmes including policy debates and "mentoring $ :IJt ' I �  & ti=l 'J' 11:: 
roundtables," as well as a position paper on waste management and land fill I �  iix m fiB� I� �� m JJ � 5t � · l& fJ � I �  W 

charging. The committee also organised a visit to the Harbour Area fg§ Mf J.R f� · fii!JI * fD N � · Jfz. B. i� ii $ 1J ' :il * �  

Treatment Scheme (HATS) facilities at Stonecutters Island. ;J'Ij @. o 

The Chamber continued to chair and provide the secretariat for the 

Business Coalition on the Environment, as well as organise a number of �iJ'H� Mt 
high-profile environmental events, including the Eco-Business Award, and liP.ll � � fi ::(±� 1o/J � !!  �l � J::. Jzy_i.� � � · 5t 1� 

the Hong Kong Environmental Protection Festival. W ii :17 /}:: iix m r�H#ij ;J'D i.lZ. � WHi .t;5" • �WE� !H.® 1o/J � !!  

®���� ft ���- o � ft es•m•a�i!J · m  

Small- and Medium-Sized Enterprises 

The SME Committee remained active both in contributing to policy and 

in helping members do business during the year under review. The annual 

Spring Dinner in February saw the biggest number of attendees in recent 

years, filling 38 tables. SME Night in June, which focused on government 

regulatory departments - building, customs, fire services and the police ­

was also well attended. 

Industry and Technology 

The Industry and Technology Committee had a busy year in 2003. 

Besides continuing to organise the innovation category of the Hong Kong 

Awards for Services, the committee also organised a seminar on "Textiles 

2005: What can we do?" Other functions included a subscription l uncheon 

by Nobel laureate Prof Rolf Zinkernagel on biotechnology, and study tours 

to the Cyberport and the Chinese University, as well as eo-organising the 

Asia Industrial Technology Congress. 
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Intel lectual Property � ffil. � ':tt�N�f���).fr� · *R- fr.:Pl"�fittt� ffii W: atJ ::*:  

The Chamber was very active with intellectual property issues i n  2003. �Lf�� · ��fi.Hl.!li-iHO�W!� )(:;;*::� • J;). ,&W,J.b¥.52 
Several submissions were made on various aspects of the Copyright jjjj i � f4�*fr o 

legislation, addressing issues such as parallel importation, reprographic 

rights and end-user liability. The No Fakes Campaign, which the Chamber �� � .it  m 
organised, was re-activated to promote respect for intellectual property !.IS: � � � +  51' tm � � �HO �titi�H.m $:§: · �,tWj tl 
rights among retailers. if>J :tr 5zd � � :§? 1B � 5U!  · lH1*l!t · 1-� ED{i ;f-O J�'H�  

m � � - w � � o * · � - if,j f � Wj � � $ � J  

• Service Industries i'J JJJ e 11Hfi liiUJJ · §' 1± m � � �  � �H o  MiUHi if>J 
HKCSI, which acts as the Chamber's service policy think tank, had an � t..\i o 

especially challenging year, as both SARS and CEPA impacted the service 

industries. 

Promotion of the service sectors remained a priority for HKCSI during 

the year under review. In April, the division presented a seminar on the 

promotion of professional services in co-operation with the Coalition of 

Profession Services, the Trade Development Council, the Hong Kong 

Productivity Council and the Business and Services Promotion Unit. HKCSI 

also continued to publish the "Servicing Economy' newsletter, along with 

the 2003 HKCSI Statistical Card. A new project initiated by the division in 

2003 in co-operation with HKTDC was the promotion of Hong Kong's 

education services. In November, HKCSI eo-organised a seminar on the 

privatisation of Hong Kong International Airport, with stakeholders and 

experts both from Hong Kong and abroad talking on the issue. 

Besides local business policies, HKCSI was also active in the WTO, being 

the only accredited non-governmental business organisation to attend the 

Cancun Ministerial Conference in September. After the ministerial ended in 

failure, HKCSI, along with other counterparts around the world, initiated a joint 

statement in October calling on the Doha round of WTO negotiations to resume. 

The Chamber's Retail and Distribution Committee focused on consumer 

protection in 2003 and maintained the Chamber's role on franchising 

through participation in the World Franchise Council. 
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Sustainability Report 

The Chamber embraced the concept of sustainable 

development as early as 1 992. We believe in the principle of 

sustainable development, and strive to put it into practice in 

our daily operation. 

•· Environment 
The Chamber's Environment Committee is among the most 

active of all Chamber committees. As early as 1992 the committee 

promoted the Charter for Sustainable Development of the 

International Chamber of Commerce. (The Hong Kong SAR 

Government did not put 'sustainable development' into its policy 

making vocabulary until 1 995.) Over the years, the committee 

developed the Chamber's position papers on 

waste disposal, chemical charges, effluent 

surcharge, vehicle exhausts, environmental 

impact assessment and air quality; and 

organised a wide range of program-mes on 

topics ranging from environment audit to 

cross-border air pollution. 

The Chamber initiated the concept of 

the Eco-Business Award, which has 

become the "def in it ive green award 

scheme' of the business sector. For the past 

five years the Chamber has been an 

organiser of  the award along with the 

government and other organisations. 

The Chamber is the only business 

associat ion to  have developed and promu lgated an 

'Environmental Statement' among its members. We led the 

formation of the Business Coalition for the Environment, 

providing both chairman and secretariat for the coalition. 

The Chamber secretariat started collecting paper for 

recycling as early as 1 992. In 2003 the accumulated amount 

of paper recycled since the scheme was launched totalled 

1 01 ,577 kg. This is equivalent to about 1 ,700 trees saved - a 

good-sized forest. What is remarkable is that the paper 

recycling exercise started entirely as a voluntary campaign 

among Chamber staff. 

Other measures in environmental stewardship we have 

adopted include: 

- extensive use of information technology, both for internal 

and external communication, thus cutting down paper usage 

substantially 

- using recyclable wrapping for sandwiches at Chamber 

roundtable luncheons 

- using recycled paper for printing name cards 

- a lights-off rule for common areas during work after 

office hour 

• .. Society 
The Chamber's care for the social dimension of business is 

nowhere better illustrated than by our efforts during the SARS 

outbreak. We cooperated with 'Operation Unite' in taking a 

leadership role in various programmes both during the outbreak 

and in the post-SARS comeback campaign. 

The Chamber contributes to publ ic 

SEJrvice t h rough the participation of i ts 

members and senior executives in more than 

60 publ ic  sector advisory bodies - a 

significant contribution to public affairs, 

considering that the Chamber itself is a 

medium-sized non-government organisation. 

We also organised more community-wide 

programmes that connect to the ordinary 

people, such as the Good Citizens Award and 

the Workplace English Programme. 

A specific theme of the Chamber's social 

involvement in 2002 and 2003 has been to 

assist our young people. We initiated a One­

Company-One-Job campaign in 2002 and the Pearl for Youth 

project in 2003 to help our university graduates broaden their 

employment options. 

•- Econom\(_ 
As a business association, our primary contribution has to 

be towards the "economy" side of sustainable development. The 

Chamber itself is not a profit-generating business, but we 

facilitate our members to do business and make profits, by 

maintaining the Chamber's leadership status in trade promotion 

and business policy. A prime example is that of CEPA, which, 

along with other achievements of the Chamber, is detailed in 

the rest of this Annual Report. 
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Economic and Legal Affairs Division 
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The Economic and Legal Affairs Division is responsible for economic policy and research, 

as well as taxation and legal issues, real estate, construction, infrastructure, transport and 

shipping. These policy areas are managed under five committees within the Division: 

Economic Policy, Legal, Taxation, Shipping & Transport, and Real Estate & Infrastructure. 
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The year under review was another active one for the Economic and Legal 

Affairs Division. For the fourth year in a row the division supervised the Hong 

Kong section of the Global Executive Survey on competitiveness conducted 

by the World Economic Forum (WEF) - famous for its annual Davos Summit -

and Harvard University in the U.S. The results, in "The Global Competitiveness 

Report," confirmed Hong Kong's strong role in the global economy. 

At year's end, the Chamber's 6th Annual Business Prospects Survey 

of members presented an up-beat view of prospects in 2004. The 

turnaround in perceptions from one year to the next was dramatic, with 

over 80 percent expecting positive economic growth, more than two-thirds 

predicting an end to deflation in 2004 and better than 60 percent preparing 

to take advantage of the new Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement 

(CEPA) with the Mainland of China. 

The Chamber's Chief Economist, David O'Rear, as head of the division, 

presents the Chamber's economic views and policy positions to a broader 

community audience, as well as acting as secretary to the division's Legal, 

Taxation and Economic Policy committees. In 2003, he briefed over 40 

visiting delegations on the business environment. economy, political issues 

and broader trends affecting the HKSAR. The role also includes representing 

the Chamber on various external bodies, preparing a number of important 

submissions to Government and other organisations, dealing with a broad 

range of inquiries from Chamber members and the media, as well as giving 

speeches to outside organisations on various aspects of the local economy. 

The division again drafted the Chamber's annual submission to the 

HKSAR Chief Executive ahead of his annual Policy Address in January, in 

conjunction with the key committees. lt also prepared the Chamber's annual 

submission on the Government's Budget for the 2004-05 fiscal year, just 

now under way. The main theme in both submissions was the increasingly 

urgent need to rebalance the Government's budget through reduced recurrent 

expenditure, broadening the tax base and reforming the civil service. 

The division annually prepares the Chamber's pay review recommendation 

for the upcoming year in co-operation with the Employers' Federation of 

Hong Kong. And, at various times during the year, it drafts submissions to 

Government and other bodies on key issues of interest to business. 
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• Committee Work 
Committees within the Division meet regularly during the year to discuss 

key issues and provide important input on Chamber policies, submissions 

and recommendations to government. Briefings from experts on particular 

topics helped shape members' thinking, ranging from health care reform 

to exchange rate regimes, regulatory structures and national security 

legislation. When called upon, the respective committee chairs present 

ifli [l'i] B�'H� � i.I-\ 'B �1 2004 � 05 � I�Jlit lE� T.Ua � if,J Jt  
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Llt71' · �� :g.jj Ji � 1¥ if: ii ±  �9t i\-1¥!�9Pf. Mffli 2004 

� if,J �M��••e · � � � u � ���•if,J•R · 

� �X � i£�1!Hil !t ft!!.�11H � ¥ � Jt o 

Members active in Chamber committees devote heroic levels of time, energy and 

intellectual capabilities, and the division sincerely thanks committee chairs, vice 

chairs and all committee members for their work during the year on behalf of 

the Chamber and the broader Hong Kong SAR business community. 

�MM���*W�R �I� , M�ffl*M�� � Mn���m� , ��&� 

W$�B�������*��� ' M$�M e±a � �±W����W o 

specific policy proposals for the consideration of the General Committee. 

Members active in Chamber committees devote heroic levels of time, energy 

and intellectual capabilities, and the division sincerely thanks committee chairs, 

vice chairs and all committee members for their work during the year on behalf 

of the Chamber and the broader Hong Kong SAR business community. Without 

their efforts, the Chamber would have been unable to do its work in furthering 

the advancement of the Hong Kong SAR business community. 

• Economic Policy Committee 
In 2003, the committee made substantial contributions to the Chamber's 

submissions to Government on the Chief Executive's Policy Address and the 

Financial Secretary's Budget. The committee received briefing from government 

officials and other experts on topical issues. The committee also established 

task forces to delve more deeply into the goods and services tax (GSl). public­

private sector initiatives, civil service reform and health care financing. 

• Legal Committee 
The Legal Committee devoted much of the early part of the year to shaping 

and refining the General Committee's understanding of the terms and 

implications of the proposed Article 23 national security legislation. Amid 

very emotional debate in the community at large, the committee focused on 

the fine details of the original draft legislation and its many amendments. 

Other topics that commanded attention, many of an on-going nature, 

included corporate governance (particularly the administrative relationship 
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between the SFC and the HKEx); amendments to the Companies Law and 

the US Sarbannes-Oxley Act. The committee also monitored the progress 

of government legislation through the Legislative Council and examined a 

number of technical legal matters. 

• Taxation Committee 
Many of the Taxation Committee ' s  meetings were involved in 

recommendations for the annual Budget submission, of which the main 

emphasis was on the need for a comprehensive and credible plan to 

reduce recurrent spending, before looking to new or expanded sources 

of revenue. As part of this work, the prospects, details and timing of a 

possible goods and services tax were discussed. Other issues raised 

include the increasingly aggressive tactics adopted by the Inland Revenue 

in the face of dwindling revenues, international tax treaties, and the Joint 

Liaison Committee on Taxation. 

Almost as soon as the Budget came out in 2003, SARS hit Hong Kong 

and caused the Chamber to rethink short-term fiscal priorities. The committee 

considered what would be the most effective responses by government, 

with an eye toward easing SMEs' cash flow problems. However, in 

recommendations on the General Committee's submissions to Government, 

the committee reiterated the need - once the worst effects on the economy 

had passed - to rebalance the budget and broaden the tax base. 

• Sh ipping & Transport Committee 
SARS dominated the agenda for the initial part of the year as members 

assessed the impact of the outbreak on the industry. On an operational 

level, the Port Affairs Working Group held discussions with the Marine 

Department and the Pilots' Association on contingency measures in the 

handling of ship arrivals and departures. 

The latter part of 2003 provided more cheer as finishing touches were 

applied to CEPA. Although regulations have in the main been relaxed, certain 

restrictions still remain such as those governing agency business. The 

committee continues to work closely with the relevant government bureaux 

and departments on issues of concern affecting shipping and transport. 

• Real Estate and Infrastructure 
A number of issues were considered by the committee, including the 

redevelopment of old industrial buildings, real estate investment trusts, 

and the Tamar site, among others. A letter to government was issued in 

relation to the latter. 

More recently, the committee invited government representatives to explain 

development plans for the West Kowloon Cultural District. A working group 

was set up in 2003 to formulate input to government on this massive project. 
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Certification Division 
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The Certification Division provides quality and efficient certificate of origin (CO) and 

electronic trade documentation services at various rates to Chamber members and 

non-members. lt operates six offices throughout the Hong Kong SAR to ensure easy 

access to its services by all prospective clients. 
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• Satisfactory Result 
The year under review was a busy year for the division. During the 

year, the Chamber processed and issued 706,213 trade documents. which 

included 222,062 certificates of origin, 476,371 import and export trade 

declarations (TDEC). 5,950 restrained textile l icences (RTEL) and 1 ,830 

production notifications (PN). The total number of documents processed 

dropped 6 percent compared with the figure of 752,060 processed in 2002. 

With this decrease in workload, the headcount of the division was further 

reduced from 70 to 65. 

The Chamber's smartcard payment system has been well received as 

a substitute for cumbersome cash payment. By the end of the year, over 

860 smartcards had been issued. Over 30 percent of all CO transactions 

were conducted through the smartcard payment system. CO processing 

time including the time required for CO correction process has also been 

further reduced and the Chamber now provides an expeditious service in 
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• CEPA CO 
Under the Mainland I Hong Kong Closer Economic Partnership 

Arrangement (CEPA), the Mainland applied zero import tariffs from January 

1 ,  2004, for goods in 37 4 Mainland 2004 tariff codes originating in Hong 

Kong. Consignments claiming CEPA tariff preference must be supported by 

a Certificate of Origin (CEPA) issued by the Hong Kong General Chamber of 

Commerce, or one of the government approved certification organizations. 

The division held three seminars in December 2003 to help members 

understand the CEPA rules of origin, product coverage in the first year and 

CEPA CO application procedures. 
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CO processing time continues to be shortened to provide 
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• Certification Coordination 
Certification policy and issues are mainly dealt with by the Certification 

Coordination Committee on which the Chamber is represented by WS Chan, 

Senior Director, Certification Division. During the year, the committee held 

four meetings to discuss origin rules and implementation arrangements for 

the issue of CEPA certificates of origin. 

• Investigation 
To uphold the integrity of the certification system, over 3,348 

consignment checks on certificate applications were made in 2003. As a 

result, 1 4  applications were refused and 267 certificates of origin were 

referred to the Trade Investigation Bureau of the Customs and Excise 

Department for further investigation and prosecution. 

• ATA C a rnet 
The Chamber is the sole approved body in Hong Kong for the issue of 

ATA carnets. These are international customs documents which permit 

trade samples, exhibition goods and professional equipment to be taken 

across national frontiers without payment of duty. During the year under 

review, 3,469 carnets were issued, an increase of 7 percent over the figure 

for 2002. These covered goods totalling HK$3,936 million. During the 

year, 517  disputes arising out of the functioning of the carnet system were 

settled. Among these disputes, 31 cases resulted in payment of customs 

duties of HK$2,452,925. 

• Incoming Trade Missions 
In 2003, useful discussions were held with three incoming study missions 

on EDI certification and CEPA certificates of origin. These missions were 

organized by the China Council for the 

Promotion of International Trade Shenzhen 

Sub-Council, the Ministry of Commerce 

and the Customs General Administration 

of the People's Republic of China. 

- Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2003 
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Business Development Division 

��tt.:gB 

The Business Development Division is responsible for improving the Chamber's 

understanding of members' needs, and to enhance services and programmes provided 

to members. lt is also handles all services and initiatives relating to membership and 

members' benefits. 
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• Membership 
Membership retention efforts began to gain momentum in 2003, with 

membership renewal reaching 85 percent for the year under review. Two 

campaigns conducted dur ing the year, the Member-get-Member 

Campaign and Staff-get-Member Campaign, played an important role in 

the recruitment of new members. 

The Chamber also continued to enhance the "monetary" value of 

membership by providing member companies employing 10 or fewer staff 

with "Small Company Coupons' worth $400, redeemable for luncheon talks. 

The Member Benefits Program continued to attract members looking for 

new channels to promote their products and services, especially during 

the SARS recovery months from May to July. Special SARS discounts on 

Chamber services and programs were also offered to members. About 

1 ,500 members took advantage of the discounts worth $1 .04 million. 

a Fellowship Events 
The division initiated several new fellowship events in 2003 to expand 

the number and variety of social functions that members can participate 1n: 

Chamber Happy Hou r - Organized once a month at Lan Kwai Fong's 

'Va Bene." This walk-in event attracts between 50 and 80 attendees 

each time, and has been much welcomed by members. 

Golf Outings - Three trips were organized during the year, with about 

40 members participated in each outing. The Chamber also eo-organized 

the Inter-Chamber's Annual International Business Golf Tournament. 

Dinner Club - An average of 1 00 members joined each of the quarterly 

Dinner Club gatherings during the year. 

Cocktail Receptions - In addition to five cocktail evenings organised 

by different divisions of the Chamber last year, we organised a cocktail 

reception at Hong Kong Club in October. Over 600 members attended the 

event, hosted by Membership Committee Chairman David Eldon. 

Women Executives Club - The club organized about 20 events during 

the year under review. The highlight of the year was a Charity Ball in 
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• Trade. Jnquiries 
To help members develop their business networks with overseas buyers 

and suppliers, the division continues to send members carefully chosen trade 

news and business opportunities. In 2003, over 1 00 members had registered 

to receive the fortnightly trade inquiry reports and close to 3,000 members 

receive our regular "Business Opportunities' email alerts. 

The Opportunities section of the Chamber Web site received over 

900,000 page views in 2003, and over 4,000 trade opportunities were 

posted online. About 1 0,000 replies to the posted offers on our Web site 

were registered, plus approximately 3,000 inquiries were handled by our 
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The division initiated several new fellowship events in 2003 to expand the 

number and variety of social functions that members can participate in. 
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• Programs 
To expand the diversity of programs offered to members, the division 

launched two new series of events in 2003, the Chamber Town Hall Forum 

Series, and the Conversation w1th a General Committee Member Series. 

The division also continues to organise the hugely popular Distinguished 

Speakers Series luncheons, as well as and business conferences. 

A Conversation with a General Committee Member Series - The 

division launched this series in March 2003 to enhance communication 

between Chamber members and the General Committee. Open to members 

only and off the record, the series provides a free flow of candid exchanges 

between members and General Committee members. Five General 

Committee members spoke at the series in 2003: 

• Anthony Nightingale, HKGGC Chairman, and Chairman of 

Jardine Pacific 

• The Honourable James Tien, Chamber Representative in the 

Legislative Council 

• David Eldon, HKGCC Deputy Chairman, and Chairman of The Hongkong 

& Shanghai Banking Corporation 

• Victor Li, Managing Director & Deputy Chairman of 

Cheung Kong (Holdings) 

• Marjorie Yang, Chairman of Esquel Group of Companies. 

- Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2003 
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The Town Hall Forum - This series of informal exchanges between 

principal government officials and members has been extremely popular. 

To encourage a free dialogue, the event is open to members only and is off 

the record. The Chamber was deeply honoured that the following principal 

officials spoke to us in 2003 (in chronological order The Honourable): 

• Stephen lp, Secretary for Economic Development & Labour 

• Frederick Ma, Secretary for Financial Services & the Treasury 

• Michael Suen, Secretary for Housing, Planning and Lands 

• Patrick Ho, Secretary for Home Affairs 

• Joseph Wong, Secretary for Civil Service 

• Arthur Li, Secretary for Education and Manpower 

• Stephen Lam, Secretary for Constitutional Affairs 

• John Tsang, Secretary for Commerce, Industry and Technology 

Distinguished Speakers Series - Thousands of members have 

attended DSS luncheons and dinners since the series was launched in 2001 . 

During the year under review, despite the SARS outbreak, four DOS 

luncheons were organised. 

• The Honourable Clark Randt, United States Ambassador to China 

• Michael Eskew, Chairman and CEO, UPS 

• The Honourable Henry Tang, Financial Secretary of the Hong Kong SAR 

• Richard Parsons, Chairman and CEO, AOL Time Warner 
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Annual Events - In addition to the above, the division also organised • t!t �t� l± �,g !ftt� � �  E J'l tAHfti !Wlfl �  a'-JDJU�'lf 

regular, large scale luncheons and conferences: 

• Joint Business Community Post-Policy Address Luncheon with the 

HKSAR Chief Executive 

• Post -Budget Luncheon with the Financial Secretary 

• The Fifth Venture Capital I Private Equity Partnership Conference 

• The Second Pearl River Delta Conference 

• The 1 Oth Annual Hong Kong Business Summit 

� · * • � � � � � · �� m� * R � J � � � * �  
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UNITE and other local and international chambers in Hong 

Kong, hosted a special post-SARS conference on June 7 

entitled "Business After SARS. • 

• Special Events • To celebrate China's first ever manned space flight, 

• Subsequent to the lifting of the World Health Organisation travel advisory the division organised a joint business community luncheon 

on Hong Kong in end May 2003, the Chamber, in cooperation with Operation in November for Astronaut Yang Liwei. 
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H u man Resources Division 
I -h 2� �ri!i Sz.rz /\... / J � IJJJ'. 1=1 p 

The Human Resources Division's three principal functi9ns are to manage the 

Chamber's corporate human resources, serve the Manpower Committee, and to 

provide skills-related training services to members. 
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IL.Manp_owe L.Gomm ittee 
In September, the Human Resources Committee was dissolved and its 

work taken up by the newly formed Manpower Committee, composed of 

human resources professionals as well as business leaders. The committee 

focuses on key manpower issues in Hong Kong, such as the population 

policy, employment. civil service reform, immigration, education, training, 

and other policies that affect the nature, availability and competitiveness of 

the workforce in Hong Kong. lt also gathers the views of both human 

resources professionals and business leaders. 

• Trainlng_ 
During the year under review, the division organised 109 training courses 

for 1 ,230 participants, which generated a surplus of HK$676,000. These 

courses covered general administrative and customer service skills, HR 

management skills, management skills, finance, languages and many other 

practical soft business skills. In addition to regular courses, in 2003 the division 

organised eight tailor-made training programmes at the request of members. 

LP....rogrammes_ 
The division organised 1 4  roundtables and seminars during the year. A 

total of 793 people participated in these events, which generated a surplus 

of HK$1 20,000. These events focused on topical issues - work visa policies, 

income tax, HR strategies. equal opportunities, university trainee programmes, 

risk management, etc. 

Regarding community programmes, the division continued to support 

the 'The Good Citizen Award,· 'The Hong Kong Occupational Safety & Health 

Award," and the 'Cooperation Programme on Workplace English,' in addition 

to mentor-trainee programmes organised by local universities. 
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In March 2003, the division established a free, on line job posting service A h ft �fl · o»_ 51 jlj 7\ if! >.lZ � � �ill ::t ff ffl  o 

and HR information board on the Chamber Web site. Entitled Job Vacancies 

& Manpower Corner, the site attracts both job seekers and employers. 
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Operations Division 
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The Operations Division is responsible for maintaining the smooth running of the 

information technology services of the Chamber, and overseeing the administration & 
finances of the organisation. If is also responsible for the e-Committee. 
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• _Information Technology 
The Chamber's IT unit continued to build on the success of the 

Chamber's Web site during the year under review. As a result, the number 

of page views doubled from 500,000 per month in 2002, to just over 

1 million per month in 2003. New products introduced included a CEPA 

page, Corporate Daily, Webcasting, and Faces & Places. 

As CEPA is reported in detail in the International Business Division report, 

we will not repeat it here. Corporate Daily is an online newspaper dedicated 

to news that companies issue through press releases. Just six months after 

its inception, Corporate Daily had become one of the most popular sections 

of our Web site. 

Webcasting allows online visitors to listen to most of our in-house 

roundtable luncheons alongside a synchronised PowerPoint presentation 

of the speaker. Faces and Places is the Chamber's online photo album 

presenting visually interesting Chamber events, such as out-going missions, 

social activities, inspection tours and conferences. These two new products 

allow members to keep abreast of most Chamber events even if they are 

unable to attend in person. 

The substantial increase in page views of the Web site has translated 

into more trade inquires being sent to members by potential overseas traders. 

Inevitably, this has also generated more spam email. A higher hit rate has 

also generated greater demand for paid online advertisements, which is a 

proxy of the success of the Web site. All these developments have been 

achieved through the efforts of the IT unit, with no increase in manpower. 

Le�Commlttee 
With IT applications now widely used in all business sectors, promotional 

work of the e-Committee was scaled back in 2003. Despite this, the 

committee held 1 4  roundtable luncheons and workshops during the year 

to keep members abreast of the latest IT developments. Three study tours 

during the year were also organised for members to visit an intelligent home 

showroom at Hong Kong Polytechnic University, IT operations at Modern 

Terminals, and also the IT operations of the Hong Kong Jockey Club. 

Under the auspices of the e-Committee, the government funded 

"E-Commerce Adoption Campaign"  was launched in early 2003. Seven 
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focus group sessions with around 80 business owners from different sectors 

- manufacturing ,  trading and wholesale, travel and tourism, professional 

services, transport and logistics, financial services, and e-commerce/IT 

vendors - were conducted at the start of the year-long campaign to identify 

companies' problems and concerns. 

A report documenting these findings was used as the basis for a half­

day symposium in September for the 300 participants who attended. In 

the fourth quarter of 2003, three "e-Commerce in Real Life" roadshows 

were organised at New Town Plaza, Telford Plaza and Olympian City to 

give the public hands-on experience of online services that they can use. 

The top-three winners of Miss Hong Kong 2003 opened the roadshows 

with Hong Kong SAR Government officials. An estimated 4,000 people took 

part in the roadshows and 1 ,  779 questionnaires were collected, the findings 

from which were incorporated into a campaign report which can be found 

on the Chamber's Web site, www.chamber.org.hk/ecac. 

._Adm.inistration_and_ E.inances._ 

The general business environment remained tough throughout much of 

2003. However, we were able to uphold membership, and its income dropped 

by only 2 percent. Due to the successful implementation of CEPA at the end 

of the year, we experienced a general upswing in business confidence, which 

may translate into better CO and membership income for 2004. 

Despite a loss in income of over $700,000 due to a discount on CO 

fees offered for three months as a relief measure to help members ride out 

the SARS epidemic in the spring, the Chamber's income from trade 

documentation services performed better than expected, registering a 

1 percent increase over 2002's figure. 

Normal operation income for the year under review was 1 .  7% higher 

than that of 2002 while operational expenses were reduced by 3 percent, 

resulting in an operational surplus of $9. 1 7  million for the year. 

As the investment climate improved considerably in the second half of the 

year, the Chamber General Fund, which performed very poorly over the three 

consecutive years prior to 2003, turned around last year with a gain of 19 .6  

percent. The Chamber decided to write-back an investment of  $5.8 million in 

an unlisted company, which was written off in 1 996, as it was able to pay 

dividends for the last two years. The gain on the sale of the Chamber's last 

residential property resulted in an additional non-operational surplus of $4.37 

million before tax. 

Much of the administration work conducted by the Division goes 

unnoticed by members. Yet its efforts ensure the smooth running of the 

443 events that the Chamber held in 2003, in addition to the Chamber 

race box at Shatin, the printing and mailing of Chamber publications and 

circulars, and the management of Chamber facilities. 

- Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2003 
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Chamber Services Limited 
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Chamber Services Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Chamber. lt focuses on 

developing services and providing commercial opportunities for the business community 

of Hong Kong. During the year under review, the company concentrated on three main 

areas - event management, Mandatory Provident Fund, business promotion services. 
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• Even.L ManagemenL 
Chamber Services Limited was very active in organising a diverse range 

of conferences, seminars, luncheons and training courses in 2003. During 

the year under review, the company expanded its scope of business to 

include training courses for senior Mainland executives, in addition to 

organising investment seminars for Mainland companies. 

At the start of the year, the company took on the E-Commerce Adoption 

Campaign, a year-long project funded by the government. Under the 

campaign, the company organised seven focus group sessions, one 

symposium and three road shows, and started work on producing a 

campaign report, which will be published in early 2004. 

In June, the company was awarded the contract to manage the first 

international conference to be held in Hong Kong following the containment 

of SARS. Entitled "The International Cooperation for Tourism Development 

Under a New Paradigm Conference," the event attracted over 1 ,000 

attendees. Despite having only one month to do preparatory work, the 

conference organisers, the Hong Kong Tourism Commission and the Boao 

Forum Secretariat, were delighted by the success of the event and 

complimented Chamber Services Limited for its excellent work. 

During the year under review, the company was again chosen to market 

and launch the fifth Eco-Business Awards, now in its fifth year, and organised 

the Award Presentation Ceremony. Over 450 guests attended the ceremony, 

which received wide coverage in the local media. 

The outbreak of SARS in the spring of 2003 forced many events to be 

postponed to the latter part of the year. Consequently, October, November 

and December were the busiest months ever for the company. 
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During the year, the company maintained a key role in serving members f'F · 1�* �ffi:m��tE Wi!MJJit imm o 

through its alliance with the Australian-owned financial services group 

CMG Asia Ltd. 

• BtJsiness Pmmotion Services 

The company continues to provide business promotion service to the 

International Business Organisation of Osaka, Inc. , which is under the 

umbrella of the Osaka Prefecture Government. 
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LG.ross Domestic Produc 

GDP at Current Prices (HK$ Billion) 
- Change (%) 

GDP in Constant 2000 HK$ Billion 
- Change (%) 

GDP Components (change %) - Private Consumption 
- Government Consumption 
- Investment 
- Merchandise Exports 
- Merchandise Imports 
- Services Exports 
- Services Imports 

GDP per capita (HK$) 
- Current Prices - Change (%) 
- Constant (2000) Prices 
- Change (%) 

Llnflatioo aod Wa 
Inflation 
- GOP Deflator 
- Composite CPI 
- CPI (A) 
- CPI (B) 
- CPI (C) 
Wages (change %) 
- Nominal 
- Real 

2003 
1 ,234.9 

-2.0 

1 ,369.4 
+3.5 

+0.2 
+2.0 
-0.1 

+ 1 4.2 
+13.1 

+5.5 
-4.4 

181 ,340 
-2.3 

201 ,078 
+3.1 

2003 
-5.2 
-2.6 
·2.1 
-2.7 
-2.9 

N.A. 
N.A. 

LG.mss Domestic Pmd11ct (GDP) b¥ Sector 
2002 

Agriculture and Fishing 0 .1  
Manufacturing 4.6 
Utilities 3.4 
Construction 4.4 
Services 87.4 
- Wholesale, Retail, etc 27.0 
- Transport, Storage, etc 10.7 
- Finance, Insurance, etc 2 1 .9 
- Community Services 22.2 
- Ownership of Premises 13 . 1  
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2002 2001 2000 1 999 
1 ,259.8 1 ,270.0 1 ,288.3 1 ,226.9 

-0.8 - 1 .4 +5.0 -2.6 

1 ,323.7 1 , 296.5 1 ,288.3 1 ' 167.1  
+2.1  +0.6 +10.4 +3.0 

- 1 .2  +2.0 +5.4 +0.7 
+2.4 +6.1 +2.0 +3.1 
-4.3 +2.7 +9.8 -1 7.4 

+8.7 -3.3 +17.1 +3.7 
+7.9 - 1 . 9  +18 .2  +0.1 

+1 2.2 +6.2 + 12 .9 +6.4 
+0.2 +2.0 +4.2 -4. 1  

1 85,615 188,847 1 93,299 1 85,71 2 
- 1 . 7  -2.3 +4.1 -3.5 

1 95,027 192,793 193,299 1 76,662 
+ 1 . 2  -0.3 +9.4 +2.0 

2002 2001 2000 1 999 
-2.8 ·2.1 ·4.9 -5.4 
-3.1 - 1 . 6  -3.7 -4.0 
·3.2 · 1 .7 -2.9 -3.2 
-3.1 - 1 . 7  -3.9 -4.7 
-2.8 - 1 .5 -4.4 -3.7 

- 1 . 2  +0.3 +1 .0 -0.6 
+ 1 .8 +1 .9 +4.7 +3.4 

2001 2000 1 990 1 980 
0.1  0 .1  0.3 .8 
5.2 5.8 1 7.5 23.6 
3.3 3.2 2.5 1 .5 
4.9 5.2 5.4 6.6 

86.5 85.7 74.4 67.3 
26.7 26.4 25. 1 2 1 .3 
10.2 10.2 9 .5  7.4 
22.5 23.7 20.4 23.0 
2 1 .8 20.5 1 4. 4  1 2 .0 
13 . 1  1 2.6 10.5 8.9 



LE.enple ' 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

Mid-year Population ('000) 6,803 6,787 6,725 6,665 6,607 
- Percent change +0.2 +0.9 +0.9 +0.9 + 1 . 0  
- Males (percent share) 48.4 48.6 48.9 49.2 49.4 
- Females (percent share) 5 1 . 6  5 1 . 4  5 1 . 1  50.8 50.6 
Labour Force 3,501 3,475 3,425 3,366 3,31 9 
- Employed 3,227 3,237 3,256 3 , 1 95 3,1 1 2  
- Unemployed 278 256 1 75 1 67 208 
Unemployment Rate (%} 7.8 6.9 4.9 4.9 6.2 
Underemployment Rate (%) 3.5 3.0 2.4 2 .8 2.9 
Employment 
- Manufacturing 1 72.5 200.1 21 8.7 238.8 253.5 
- Finance, Business Services 41 9.0 430.3 442.5 429.3 409.2 
- Wholesale, Retail and Trade, Restaurants and Hotels 958.4 988.1 1 ,034.9 1 ,036.4 966.2 
- Construction (manual labour} 63.2 79.2 80.3 79.3 7 1 . 4  
- Community Services 400.6 390.8 372.5 346.2 339.2 
- Civil Service 1 69 1 71 1 78 1 78 1 88 
Tourism Arrivals (million) 1 5.53 1 6.57 1 3.73 1 3 . 1 0  1 0.68 

•__Enanc.e 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

Stock Exchange Indices (year-end} 
Hang Seng Index (July 1 964 = 1 00} 1 2,575.94 9,321.29 1 1  ,397.21 15 ,095.53 1 6,962 . 1 0  
- Finance 26,263.59 1 8,23 1 . 1 6  1 9,497.67 24,041.66 22,388.88 
- Utilities 24,878.76 2 1 ,970.53 20,498.86 21 ,704.53 1 8,999.25 
- Properties 1 4, 778.70 1 1 , 1 03.88 1 5,554.75 1 8, 362.44 1 9,839.94 
- Commerce & Industry 5,271.72 4,043.95 5,508.82 8 , 1 51 .69 1 0, 753.03 
Monthly Average Turnover (HK$ billion) 2 12 . 1  133.2 1 62.5 284.0 1 59.7 
Market Capitalisation (US$ billion} 702.3 456.3 498.1 614.8 606.1 

LMoney aocL.Ban.klng 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1 999 

No. of licensed banks (operating} 1 34 1 33 147 1 54 1 56 
No. of restricted licensed banks 42 46 49 48 58 
No. of DTCs (operating) 39 45 54 61 71 
Money Supply M 1  (HK$ billion} 413.4 295.7 258.2 243.5 225.2 
Money Supply M2 (HK$ billion} 3 ,812.8 3,518.3 3,550.1 3,604.6 3,313.5 
Money Supply M3 (HK$ billion) 3,857.4 3,56 1 .9 3,594.1 3,647.9 3,361.8 
Total bank deposits (HK$ billion) 3,566.4 3,275.8 3,366.6 3,490.7 3,209.8 
Total loans & advances (HK$ billion) 2,035.2 2,076.3 2 , 185.0 2,46 1 .5 2,81 2 .9 
- Loans for use in Hong Kong (percent share} 84.0 83.9 86.2 89.7 87.6 
- All other loans (percent share) 1 6.0 1 6. 1  1 3.8 1 0.4 12 .4 
Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate (average} 5.00 5.1 1  7.00 9.22 8.49 

• Excbaoge Bate 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1 999 

HK$:US$1 (average) 7.788 7.799 7.799 7.791 7 .758 
HK$:01 (average} 6.89 7.38 6.99 7.20 8.27 
HK$:¥1 00 (average} 6.71 6.25 6.43 7.23 6.85 
Trade Weighted Index (Jan 2000=1 00} 1 00.4 1 04.0 104.7 1 0 1 . 7  1 00.9 



-

HONG KONG PROGRESS 

� ����111 

�hlic£inances (H.K$_biJlion,Bscal Year ApcJ�MaL11 
Operating Revenue Operating Expenditure 

1 998 - 99 1 76.8 1 77.4 
1 999 - 00 1 75.2 1 75.9 
2000 - 0 1  1 7 1 .3 1 86.7 
2001 - 02 1 5 1 . 4  1 98.7 
2002 - 03 1 53.3 201 .3 
2003 - 04 1 47.7 206.7 
2004 - 05 (Budget) 1 55.6 21 2.2 

ILMarchandise_Irade__{H.K$.bill ion 
2003 

Total Imports (c.i.f.) 1 ,810.6 
Total Exports (f.o.b.) 1 ,744.1 
- Domestic Exports (f.o.b.) 1 2 1 .8 
- Re-exports (f.o.b.) 1 ,662.3 
Total Trade 3,554.7 
Trade Balance -66.5 
- as % of Imports -3.7 

._lioo.g_Kofl9-Ser_v_ic_e_s_Irade. (I:IK$Mi011. 
2003 

Exports of Services 350.3 
Imports of Services 1 89.2 
Services Balance + 1 6 1 . 1  

Operating Surplus /Deficit 
-0.6 
-0.7 

- 1 5.4 
-47.3 
-48.0 
-59.1 
-56.6 

2002 2001 
1 ,61 9.4 1 ,568.2 
1 ,560.5 1 ,481.0 

1 30.9 1 53.5 
1 ,429.6 1 ,327.5 
3,1 79.9 3,049.2 

-58.9 -87.2 
-3.6 -5.6 

2002 . 2001 
337.9 307.7 
1 93.4 1 92.5 

+ 1 44.5 + 1 1 5.2 

• Domestic_ Merc.handise_Expmts_:_MaJOLMarkeis_{HK$..billion 
2003 

The Mainland 36.8 
USA 39.2 
UK 7 .8 
Germany 4.8 
Taiwan 3.7 
Netherlands 2.5 
Japan 2.8 

._Merchandise_Re=.expruts_· Major Markets_(I:IKUi 
· 

2003 
The Mainland 706.5 
USA 285.4 
Japan 9 1 .2 
UK 49.7 
Germany 51 .4 
Taiwan 38.7 
Singapore 33.5 

• Merchandise lmports..:_Major Markets (I:IK$ 
2003 

The Mainland 788.4 
Japan 214 .5 
Taiwan 125.6 
USA 98.9 
Singapore 90.7 
South Korea 87.5 
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2002 2001 
4 1 .4 49.5 
4 1 .9 47.6 

7.6 8.6 
4.3 5.8 
4.4 5.3 
3.5 4.6 
3.0 4.0 

2002 2001 
571 .9 496.6 
291 .0 282.2 

80.7 83.6 
46.6 46.8 
5 1 .4 45.8 
30.2 30.0 
29.4 26.9 

2002 2001 
7 1 7.1 682.0 
1 82.6 1 76.6 
1 1 5.9 1 07.9 

91 .5  1 05.0 
75.7 72.9 
76.1 70.8 

Fiscal Reserves (year-end) 
434.3 
444.3 
430.3 
380.6 
31 5.5 
266.4 
223.8 

2000 1 999 
1 ,658.0 1 ,392.7 
1 ,572.7 1 ,349.0 

1 8 1 .0 1 70.6 
1 ,391 .7  1 , 1 78.4 
3,230.7 2,741 .7  

-85.3 -43.7 
-5.1 -3.1 

2000 1 999 
301 .8 293.7 
1 9 1 .5 1 80.9 

+ 1 1 0.3 + 1 1 2.8 

2000 1999 
54.2 50.4 
54.4 51 .4  
1 0. 7  1 0.4 
9.3 8.6 
6.1 5.1 
3.9 4.2 
5 . 1  5.5 

2000 1 999 
488.8 399.2 
31 1 .1 269.5 

82.1 67.5 
52.4 45.5 
50.6 44.1 
33.7 27.9 
32.0 28.7 

2000 1 999 
7 1 5.0 607.6 
1 99.0 1 62 .7  
1 24.2 1 00.4 
1 1 2.8 98.6 

75.0 60.0 
80.6 65.4 



Llmp.oJ1s_b¥-£nd_U se_(HK$_hllllon 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1999 

Foodstuffs 58.3 59.1 60.4 59.8 57.2 
Consumer goods 575.8 543.2 538.0 566.9 508.4 
Fuels 35.4 3 1 . 3  30.4 34.0 27.4 
Raw Materials & Manufactures 654.4 558.1 51 1 .4  580.2 471 .9 
Capital goods 481 .8 427.7 428.1 41 7.0 327.9 

• Be-exports by End lls 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1 999 

Foodstuffs 14 .7  1 6.2 1 7.4 1 9.4 1 8.2 
Consumer Goods 617 .3  580.4 570.1 609.5 545.3 
Fuels 2.0 1 .7 1 .9 2.5 3.2 
Raw Materials & Manufactures 533.2 448.3 396.0 425.2 343.0 
Capital Goods 453.5 383.0 342.3 335.2 268.6 

--.Exports of Services_(l:::IK$_Billl 
2002 2001 2000 1 999 1 998 

Total 357.1 325.9 317 .6  279.2 272.1 
Transportation 1 03.0 93.7 99.5 89.2 85.1 
Travel 78.0 64.6 61 .8 56.5 58.7 
Insurance 3.7 3.6 3.5 3 . 1  3 . 1  
Financial 20.9 2 1 .8  20.9 1 9.2 1 6.3 
Trade-related 1 1 7.2 106.4 97.6 81 .5  76.9 
Other Business 34.3 35.8 34.3 29.7 32.0 

•_tm pru:ts..___oi_&e rvjcas____(l:::IK$.Bill ion). 
2002 2001 2000 1 999 1998 

Total 1 93.4 1 92.5 1 9 1 . 5  184.1 1 93.6 
Transportation 51 .7 50.9 48.6 39.2 42.9 
Travel 96.8 96.1 97.4 1 01 .9 1 04.4 
Insurance 4.0 4.0 4.1 5.0 4.6 
Financial 5.3 5.2 5.5 5.7 6.7 
Trade-related 12 . 1  1 1 .8 1 1 .2 10.5 8.5 
Other Business 23.5 24.5 24.7 2 1 . 8  26.5 

• Otbar.Jrui' 
2003 2002 2001 2000 1 999 

Electricity Consumption (Terajoules) 1 49,262 1 44,942 1 39,830 1 34,928 1 27,555 
- Industrial 1 4,851 1 6 , 1 1 2  1 6,759 1 7,769 1 7,547 
- Commercial 88,834 87,241 84,214 80,347 76,028 
- Domestic 34,365 33,394 32,799 32,234 31 ,340 
- Other (incl. export) 1 1 ,2 1 2  8 , 195 6,059 4,578 2,640 

Telecommunications 

- Residential ('000) 2 , 1 1 8  2 , 134 2 , 16 1  2 ,210 2 , 188 
- Business ('000) 1 ,691 1 ,764 1 ,736 1 ,734 1 ,597 
- Fax ('000) 494 546 41 1 400 382 
- Broadband Internet accounts ('000) 1 ,21 1 989 623 392 N.A. 
- Mobile phone accounts ('000) 4,390 4,207 4,256 4,1 1 0  3,650 

Motor Vehicle Registrations (No.) 
Total licensed 524,253 525,551 525,376 51 6.782 503,974 
- new registrations 30,306 42,639 57,896 52,446 42,467 
Private cars 382,880 384,864 381 ,757 332,000 321 ,61 7 

• new registrations 21 ,345 29,657 34,943 34,630 29,363 
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Auditors' report to the members of 
The Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 
("the Chamber") 
(Incorporated in Hong Kong and limited by guarantee) 

We have audited the financial statements on pages 58 to 70 which have 
been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in Hong Kong. 

Respective responsibil ities of the General Committee and auditors 
The Hong Kong Companies Ordinance requires the General Committee to 
prepare financial statements which give a true and fair view. In preparing 
financial statements which give a true and fair view it is fundamental that 
appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently, that 
judgements and estimates are made which are prudent and reasonable 
and that the reasons for any significant departure from applicable 
accounting standards are stated. 

lt is our responsibility to form an independent opinion, based on our audit, 
on those financial statements and to report our opinion solely to you, as a 
body, in accordance with section 141  of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibi l ity 
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 

Basis of opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Statements of Auditing 
Standards issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants. An audit 
includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts 
and disclosures in the financial statements. lt also includes an assessment 
of the significant estimates and judgements made by the General 
Committee in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether 
the accounting policies are appropriate to the Chamber's and the group's 
circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed. 

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information 
and explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us 
with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance as to whether the 
financial statements are free from material misstatement. In forming our 
opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of 
information in the financial statements. We believe that our audit provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Chamber and of the group as at 31 December 2003 

and of the group's surplus and cash flows for the year then ended and 

have been properly prepared in  accordance with the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance. 

KPMGc 
Signed KPMG 
Certified Public Accountants, Hong Kong 
23 March 2004 
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Consolidated income and expenditure statement 
tor the year ended 31 December 2003 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 2003 
'" at $'000 

Income 
Members' subscriptions 1 2,466 
Fees 1 2  42,023 

Interest and dividends 1 3  3,062 
Publications and promotion 1 4  4,633 
Commission income 255 
Rental income 1 ,951 
Surplus on disposal of property 4,373 
Exchange gain ---

68,763 

Expenditure 
Staff 1 5  (41 ,525) 
Office 1 6  (5,813) 
Services 1 7  (2,571) 
Depreciation and deficit on disposal of 1 8  (3,977) 

fixed assets 
Deficit on disposal of non-trading securities (1 ,007) 
Subscriptions and donations 1 9  (306) 
Exchange loss __i!D 

J??! ?.�?l 
Surplus before impairment loss and taxation 1 3,547 

Write-back of impairment loss on 4 5,875 
unlisted non-trading investment 

Impairment loss on properties 2(d) 

Surplus from ordinary activities before taxation 1 9,422 

Taxation 9(a) � 

Surplus after taxation 20 1 9,224 

General fund brought forward 183,809 

General fund carried forward 203,033 

The notes on pages 61 to 70 form part of these financial statements. 
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Restated ;!l !l 1t 
2002 
$'000 

1 2,71 7 
41 ,534 

1 ,969 
4,175 

229 
2,076 

506 
1 1 1  

- --��!�_1_� 

(42,125) 
(6.465) 
(2,71 1 ) 
(4,528) 

(953) 
(1 1 5) 

J?�.��!l 
6,420 

(2,000) 

4,420 

� 

4,169 

1 79,640 

1 83,809 
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Consolidated balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2003 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 2003 
m tt $'000 

Fixed assets 2(a) 94,128 

Unl isted non-trading investments 4 5,875 

Non-trading securities managed 5 56,498 
by investment manager 

Staff housing loans 6 6,000 

Deferred tax assets 1 0(b) 991 

Current assets 
Accounts with investment manager 7 2,302 
Debtors and prepayments 2,410 
Dividend receivable from unlisted 

non-trading investment 
Certificates of deposit held 8 1 0,000 
Tax recoverable 1 0(a) 58 
Cash at bank and in hand 54,861 

69,631 

--��-�c!?.� 

Current liabilities 
Creditors and accruals 
Subscriptions received in advance 

23,442 -----------
209,681 

General fund 203,033 

Investment revaluation reserve 21 6,648 

209,681 

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 23 March 2004 
Anthony Nightingale 

David Eldon 

Eden Woon 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(Certified Public Accountants) 

Chairman 

Deputy Chairman 

CEO 
Treasurers 

The notes on pages 61 to 70 form part of these financial statements. 

Restated ;';l�ili 
2002 
$'000 

102,060 

750 

45.902 

6,000 

940 

3,278 
4,271 

999 

41 
38.682 

47,271 

202,923 -----------

179,938 

183,809 

(3,871 ) 

179,938 
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Balance sheet 
as at 31 December 2003 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 2003 
llM tt  $'000 

Fixed assets 2(b) 94, 1 1 2  

Interest i n  a subsidiary 3 3,1 1 1  

Unlisted non-trading investment 4 5,875 

Non-trading securities managed 5 56,498 
by investment manager 

Staff housing loans 6 6,000 

Del erred tax assets 1 0(b) 991 

Current assets 
Accounts with investment manager 7 2,302 
Debtors and prepayments 1 ,969 
Dividend receivable from unlisted 

non-trading investment 
Certificates of deposits held 8 t O,OOO 

Tax recoverable 1 0(a) 58 
Cash at bank and in hand 51 ,600 

65,929 

--�����)-� 
Current liabilities 

Creditors and accruals 
Subscriptions received in advance 

_ _ _  ?_�,!�_! 
209,375 

General fund 202,723 
I nvestment revaluation reserve 21 6,648 

209,375 

Approved and authorised for issue by the General Committee on 23 March 2004 
Anthony Nightingale Chairman 

David El don Deputy Chairman 

Eden Woon CEO 

PricewaterhouseCoopers 
(Certified Public Accountants) 

Treasurers 

The notes on pages 6t to 70 form part of these financial statements. 

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Note 2003 
llM tt $'000 

Total equity at 1 January 
- As previously reported 
- Prior period adjustment arising from 1 1  

change in accounting policy for deferred tax 

- As restated 

Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation 
Investments in non-trading securities 21 

Net gains/(losses) not recognised in the 
income and expenditure statement 

Net surplus for the year 
- As previously reported 
- Prior period adjustment arising from 1 1  

change in accounting policy for deferred tax 

Total equity at 31 December 

The notes on pages 61 to 70 form part of these financial statements. 

1 78,998 
940 

1 9,224 
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2002 
$'000 

102 ,029 

1 ,221 

750 

45,902 

6,000 

940 

3,278 
4,224 

999 

41 
37, 1 08 

45,650 

- -�9-����-� 

_ _ _  ?�·-��-� 
179,900 

183,782 
(3,871) 

1 79,900 

2002 
$'000 

1 76,850 
9 1 1  

(1 ,992) 

( 1 , 992) 

4 , 1 40 
29 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 
for the year ended 31 December 2003 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Operating activities 
Surplus from ordinary activities before taxation 
Adjustments for: 
- Depreciation on fixed assets 
- Impairment loss on properties 
- Surplus on disposal of fixed assets 
- Deficit on disposal of non-trading securities 
- Interest and dividends received 
- Write-back of impairment loss on unlisted 

non-trading investment 

Operating surplus before changes in working capital 
Increase in dividend receivable from unlisted 

non-trading investment 
Decrease in accounts with investment manager 
Decrease in debtors and prepayments 
Decrease in creditors and accruals 
Increase in subscriptions received in advance 

Cash generated from operations 
Hong Kong profits tax paid 

Net cash from operating activities 

Investing activities 
Payment for purchase of fixed assets 
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets 
Payment for purchase of non-trading securities 
Placement of certificates of deposits 
Proceeds from sale of non-trading securities 
Interest and dividends received 

Net cash from investing activities 

Increase in cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 

Notes to the financial statements 
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) 

Significant accounting policies 

(a) Basis of preparation 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

19 .422 

3,970 

(4,366) 
1 ,007 

(3,062) 
(5,875) 

1 1 ,096 

976 
1 ,861 

(1 ,077) 
� 

14 ,390 
(266) 

(62) 
8,390 

( 1 3,540) 
(1 0,000) 

1 3,206 
4,061 

_ __ ?)9_5_� 
16,179 

38,682 

54,861 

4,420 

4,528 
2,000 
(506) 

953 
(1 ,969) 

9,426 
(999) 

224 
2,309 

(2 ,764) 
299 

(1 ,336) 
6,055 

{9,621) 

9,097 

� 
- --�!�!3.� 

1 4,430 

24 ,252 

38,682 

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance all applicable Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (which includes all applicable Statements of 
Standard Accounting Practice and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Society 
of Accountants and accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong. The 
financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention, modified by 
the revaluation of non-trading securities as explained in note 1 (e) to the financial 
statements. 

(b) Subsidiary 
A subsidiary, in accordance with the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is a company 
in which the Chamber, directly or indirectly, holds more than half of the issued share 
capital. or controls more than half the voting power, or controls the composition of 
the board of directors . 
An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated financial statements 
and intra-group balances and transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the 
consolidated financial statements. 
In the Chamber's balance sheet, investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less any 
impairment losses (see note 1 (g)) . 
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Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

(c) Income recognition 
Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Chamber and the 
income and costs, if applicable, can be measured reliably, income is recognised in 
the income and expenditure statement as follows: 
(i) Members' subscriptions 

Members' subscriptions are recognised on an accrual basis. 
(ii) Fees and commission income 

Fees and commission income are recognised as income when the services are 
rendered. 

(Hi) Rental income from operating leases 
Rental income receivable under operating leases is recognised in the income and 
expenditure statement in equal instalments over the accounting period covered 
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more representative of the 
pattern of benefits to be derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives granted 
are recognised in the income and expenditure statement as an integral part of the 
aggregate net lease payments receivable. 

(iv) Dividends 
Dividend income from unlisted investments is recognised when the shareholder's 
right to receive payment is established. 
Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the share price of 
the investment goes ex-dividend. 

(v) Interest income 
Interest income from bank deposits is accrued on a time-apportioned basis by 
reference to the principal outstanding and the rate applicable. 

(d) Fixed assets and depreciation 
(i) Leasehold investment properties are stated in the balance sheet at cost less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see note 1 (g)) . Other fixed 
assets are stated in the balance sheet at cost less accumulated depreciation. 
Leasehold land is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the remaining periods 
of the respective leases. 
Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over a period of forty years 
from the date of acquisition. 
Computer system is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
economic life of the system of three years starting from the time the economic 
benefits begin to accrue. 
Other fixed assets are depreciated at the following annual rates on a straight-line 
basis: 

Furniture, fittings and office equipment 10% to 20% 
Motor vehicle 20% 

(ii) Subsequent expenditure relating to a fixed asset that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits. in excess of the originally assessed standard of performance 
of the existing asset. will flow to the Chamber. All other subsequent expenditure 
is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 

(iii) Surpluses or deficits arising from the retirement or disposal of a fixed asset are 
determined as the difference between the estimated net disposal proceeds and 
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in the income and expenditure 
statement on the date of retirement or disposal. 

(e) Non-trading investments 
Investments which are held for non-trading purposes are stated at fair value at the 
balance sheet date. Changes in the fair value of individual securities are credited or 
debited to the investment revaluation reserve until the security is sold, collected, or 
otherwise disposed of, or until there is objective evidence that the security is impaired, 
at which time the relevant cumulative surplus or deficit is transferred from the 
investment revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure statement. 
Transfers from the investment revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure 
statement as a result of impairments are reversed when the circumstances and events 
leading to the impairment cease to exist and there is persuasive evidence that the 
new circumstances and events will persist for the foreseeable future. 
Surpluses or deficits on disposal of non-trading securities are accounted for in the 
income and expenditure statement as they arise. The surplus or deficit includes any 
amount previously held in the investment revaluation reserve in respect of that security. 

Annual Report 2003 
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(f) Leased assets 
Leases of assets under which the lessor has not transferred all the risks and benefits 
of ownership are classified as operating leases. 
(i) Assets held for use in operating lease 

Where the Chamber leases out assets under operating leases. the assets are 
included in the balance sheet according to their nature and, where applicable, 
are depreciated in accordance with the Chamber's depreciation policies, as set 
out in note 1 (d). Income arising from operating leases is recognised in accordance 
with the Chamber's income recognition policies, as set out in note 1 (c). 

(ii) Operating lease charges 
Where the Chamber has the use of assets under operating leases, payments 
made under the leases are charged to the income and expenditure statement in 
equal instalments over the accounting periods covered by the lease term, except 
where an alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of benefits to be 
derived from the leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in the 
income and expenditure statement as an integral part of the aggregate net lease 
payments made. 

(g) Impairment of assets 
Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at each balance sheet date 
to identify indications that the following assets may be impaired or an impairment 
loss previously recognised no longer exists or may have decreased: 

investment properties; and 
investment in a subsidiary. 

If any such indication exists, the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An 
impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount. 
(i) Calculation of recoverable amount 

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price and 
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
Where an asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent of those 
from other assets, the recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group 
of assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). 

(ii) Reversals of impairment losses 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estrmates used 
to determine the recoverable amount. 
A reversal of impairment losses is limited to the asset's carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised in prior 
years. Reversals of impairment losses are credited to the income and expenditure 
statement in the year in which the reversals are recognised. 

(h) Income tax 
(ij Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in deferred tax 

assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are recognised in the income and expenditure account except to the 
extent that they relate to items recognised directly in equity, in which case they 
are recognised in equity. 

(il) Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using 
tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date, and any 
adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years. 

(iii) Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable temporary 
differences respectively, being the differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. Deferred 
tax assets also arise from unused tax losses and unused tax credits. 
All deferred tax liabilities, and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised, 
are recognised. 
The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the expected 
manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount of the assets and 
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet 
date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted. 
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at each balance sheet 
date and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any 
such reduction is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available. 

(iv) Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements therein, are 
presented separately from each other and are not offset. 
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(i) Provisions and contingent liabilities 
Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Chamber 
or the group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation 
and a reliable estimate can be made. 
Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the 
amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, 
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one 
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability 
of outflow of economic benefits is remote. 

(j) Translation of foreign currencies 
Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars 
at the exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the 
exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. Exchange gains and losses are dealt 
with in the income and expenditure statement. 

(k) Cash equivalents 
Cash and cash eqUivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand, demand deposits 
with banks and other financial institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments 
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an 
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at 
acquisition. 

(I) Related parties 
For the purposes of these financial statements. parties are considered to be related 
to the Chamber if the Chamber has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control the 
party or exercise significant influence over the party in making financial and operating 
decisions, or vice versa. or where the Chamber and the party are subject to common 
control or common significant influence. Related parties may be individuals or other 
entities. 

2 Fixed assets 
!3!lHl!ti. !.h'lffiii 1:,a. · �_a: 

�.t itl.:l': liHlii];: 
(a) Consolidated 

Cost: 
At 1 January 2003 
Additions 
Disposals 

Leasehold 
properties Leasehold 

held for investment 
own use properties 

$'000 $'000 

90,151 65,083 

(5,220) 

At 31 December 2003 -��l?�� -�M�� 

Accumulated depreciation: 
At 1 January 2003 13,320 44,442 
Charge for the year 1 ,479 1 , 1 22 
Disposals (1 ,249) 

At 31 December 2003 -��'�?.Q -��,��� 

Net book value: 
At 31 December2003 71 ,381 19,519 

At 31 December 2002 76,831 

�lit\ 
Furniture, 

fittings 
and office 

equipment 
$'000 

17,813 
6 

(1 ,743) 

-�?,9,7_� 

14,436 
794 

( 1 ,690) 

-��,��-Q 

Motor 
vehicle 
$'000 

503 

503 

210 
1 01 

311  

Computer 
system Total 

$'000 $'000 

12,158 185,708 
56 62 

(6,963) 

-�?,?.1.� 1_�M9_� 

1 1 ,240 83,648 
474 3,970 

(2,939) 

-�!,?.1.� -��,??.� 

2,536 1g2 500 94,128 --
3,377 � 91 8 102,060 

•' Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce Annual Report 2003 



2 lE ;r; it .if [il) 2 Fixed assets (continued) 

(b) !!if!itl (b) The Chamber 

�[8 : Cost: 
2003� 1 jj 1 El At 1 January 2003 90,151 65,083 17 ,453 503 12,158 1 85,348 
jt,;J'l Additions 6 56 62 
til l!;  Disposals (5,220) ( 1 ,743) (6,963) 

2003 � 1 2 Yl 3 1 B At 31 December 2003 .�11��� -��!9ft� .!�/.1_� 503 _g?_1_� �!?!�-�� 
K?M/Rlf : Accumulated depreciation: 
2003 � 1 jj 1 El At 1 January 2003 1 3,320 44,442 1 4, 1 07 210 1 1 ,240 83,319 
� pg tfi fli  Charge for the year 1 ,479 1 , 1 22 779 1 01 474 3,955 
til l!:  Disposals ( 1 , 249) (1 ,690) (2 ,939) 

2003 � 1 2  jj 31 El At31 December 2003 .!?!�!i.Q -�?!?�� -�?!!�� 31 1 .!! !?.1.� -�1!?�-� 

RBilff;'flfi : Net book value: 
2003 � 1 2 Yl 31 El At 31 December 2003 71 ,381 19,519 2,520 192 500 94,1 1 2 

2002 � 1 2  Jl 31 El Al31 December 2002 76,831 20,641 3,346 293 918 102,029 --
(c) �mffiamx&�a•��a•� - ��s�m (c) The leasehold properties held for own use and investment properties are situated in 

I"'JIJ'ii: JHl" · Hong Kong and held under long leases. 

(d) anw�e H � �e�•� c e�•••M· • (d) In accordance with Statement of Standard Accounting Practice 31 "Impairment of 
3 1 H raa�mJ m� · ••••�x�am assets" issued by the HKSA, the Chamber has recognised an impairment loss of $Nil 
ft 1m:i ��m ;'/1? (2oo2 � . 2oo fff,liJ . ililtm (2002: $2,000,000) in respect of its lease[lold investment properties. This impairment 
n��-�� a•���m�MW��mmA• loss was based on the estimated market value determined by reference to comparable 
if ·  recent market transactions. 

(e) �••�•�mun'itffitilmam2 · ffi��w (e) The Chamber leases out investment properties under operating leases. The leases 
A�� - �-��3-� · MRffiU� �S�d typically run for an initial period of three years, with an option to renew the lease after 
fiffiii • that date at which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes 

contingent rentals. 
MB��mM�-�ffiUMffl**S�ffia•a Total future lease payments receivable under '1fH!. •f !litt 
PIJ"f : non-cancellable operating leases are as follows: Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 

$'000 $'000 

-�pg�- Within 1 year 1 ,464 1 ,982 
-"Flltl§Ji�pg)ljj� After 1 year but within 5 years 1 63 1 ,627 

1 ,627 3,609 

3 t!Jil .10 iiJ (l(J I!Hd 3 Interest in a subsidiary �iU 
The Chamber 

2003 2002 

$'000 $'000 

l1i!Jl\fll�t�� �F.tffl/RI75 Unlisted shares, at cost 1 0  10  
llfU� �lll�?\ J7 Amount due from subsidiary 7,083 5 , 1 93 

7,093 5,203 
;'1( : l§lffl1 Less: Provision (3,982) (3,982) 

3,1 1 1  1 ,221 ---
�••w����m•a•�aH•n�••• The wholly owned subsidiary is Chamber Services Limited ("CSL"), incorporated in 
••w•�m · �F'l�&�B•mm•m•• · Hong Kong, whose principal activity during the year was the provision of business 
�-·�-·��pg�-��N� · �aMm� related services. The Chamber has issued a letter of support which was in force 
m•�MRmm*wa�••�Ma�m · during the year for an unspecified amount to provide financial assistance as is 

necessary to maintain CSL as a going concern. 
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4 �� .t m · �� 3HHH� 

w amH •�••• �•••••u •� � 
(ft£B) AAil1 

�ffi!a!i 

�ft!l&'a 

tt 2003if 12 A 31 8 · l�ll\fli;J:J!fW!!illii.B 
�tl:t¥}jl{l'j . !i@lli!t!ll. 5,875,000 7t 0 

tt 2 0 0 2  if 1 2  !l 3 1  8 · � ft!l & Ji 'fl.IHE 

GACOiink Limited�!.£\1' o ilt�W:tiW�ffijg 

'fJ'll :=,}j o 

5 tlUU!!l if !I il<J �� 3HHlBf 

;fi[H 
J: rll!Jl: 'a 

- �!,! 
. i&$'� 

1� J:ri1!9: 'a 

�J:ffiW:IB�fflW&�ft!l*m&•IA • 

6 liHUlli1Ut 
� � �@--§���*·����T·�� 

lU� : 
2/>:#1: NF!. 
3,000,000 7t if,@, 5% 
3,000,000 7t 20051!'7 !l 31 8 M � .!;!. · 

�ilt'!'.\}. 5% 

fi�����- - ill�-���gq . �-�-

�@:Ft:J;Z · P).�$'ti'A\� o 

7 ti'a�Ul.P 
sM •sa ••� �•a•D · �MDa · �  

&fimrnw�s� M•�•�•• · � �m• 
�J'l!.fl'J'l!. · • JJBP T : 

1HU H;� 
PU+b! l&AA.�. 

8 �*ff:J!:il 

�ftmfiH�x• · ��J:mff:f.i.:m 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

Unlisted non-trading investments JS{;Jl.�fffjft 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Shares 1n Tradelink Electronic Document Services 5,875 5,875 
Limited ("Tradelink"). at cost 

Provision for impairment (5,875) 
5,875 

Other investment 750 
5,875 750 

As at 31 December 2003, by reference with the net assets value of Tradelink, the 
General Committee decided to write back the impairment loss of $5,875,000. 
As at 31 December 2002. other investment represents investment in GACOiink Limited . 
This investment was disposed of to a third party at cost in 2003. 

Non-trading securities managed by investment manager !.f. t; l}. !Ufift 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
At market value $'000 $'000 
Listed investments 

· Hong Kong 10.499 7,905 
· Overseas 1 5,579 12 ,305 

26,078 20,210 
Unlisted investments 30.420 25,692 

56,498 45,902 

Unlisted investments comprise bonds and other marketable instruments. 

Staff housing loans 
These comprise two secured housing loans with the following terms: 

Principal Interest 
$3,000,000 interest bearing at 5% per annum 
$3,000,000 interest-free until 31 July 2005 

at 5% per annum thereafter 
The housing loans are repayable upon the staff members' resignation or retirement or 
on the sale of the properties. whichever occurs earlier. 

Accounts with investment manager 
These comprise cash balances in interest-bearing current accounts and fixed deposits 
together with accrued interest and dividend receivable on marketable securities, 
managed by the investment manager as follows: t$t?t».!�Mt 

Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Current accounts 2,289 3,278 
Accrued dividend receivable 1 3  

2,302 3,278 

Certificates of deposit held f.J.t?t».t�tJjft 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Non-trading and unlisted, at fair value 1 0,000 
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9 �fllll!1i:!6J:��PifllJ� 9 Income tax in the consolidated income and expenditure statement 

(a) �f;llll1i:!6J:��&Jl'!i!� : (a) Taxation in the consolidated income and expenditure statement represents: 
2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Sllll&Jl- i!fift�JllJtii.JBfll Current tax • provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax 
-'l'1fllUi� Tax for the year 249 280 

llliltii.Jl Deferred tax 

�'WiH¥.�A�.&!i@! Origination and reversal of temporary differences 37 (29) 
�m;�M� 1 � 1 a ���m��� Effect of increase in tax rate on deferred tax (88) 

balances at 1 January 

____ j?_!) ______ @) 
198 251 --- ---

a 2oo3 1f 3 � · •••n�•�E �Za®m In March 2003, the Hong Kong Government announced an increase in the Profits Tax 
��rJ1lJHI. $ ffi  1 6%Je� 1 7.5% , Ui*�ii.'i�� rate applicable to the group's operations in Hong Kong from 1 6% to 1 7  .5%. This 
O E�A� � ��1fllM&�� · ·� � �- increase is taken into account in the preparation of the group's 2003 financial 
!l.ll-'t�f,(fi!i�HUHJ!;!:!�tj tJ 1 7. 5% tl!$ (2002 statements. Accordingly, the provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for 2003 is calculated 
1f ,  16%) �tn•• 'f'HG tJI. Jll{/.\ , at 1 7.5% (2002 : 16%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year. 

(b) ���ffltii.$��Ui�1i:W&t��� : (b) Reconciliation between tax expense and accounting surplus at applicable tax rates: 
2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

UiM�� Surplus before tax 1 9,422 4.420 ---

tJ 1 7 . 5% tlt$ (2002 1f : 1 6%) :t��t!!Mall Notional tax on surplus before tax, 3,399 707 
��5iUi calculated at 17.5% (2002: 1 6%) 
::r:EJ101\Hl'm��m��: Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 9,228 8.864 
��!!.tll.l&Aet!Attii.!Sll! Tax effect of non-taxable income (1 2,293) (9,31 4) 
*l1lfflUi�l51lHf.J*Mli:ttlt!till! Tax effect of unused tax losses not recognised (48) (6) 
�tll.lfl.!liiiie:J�l[;{lt�!tltt Effect on opening deferred tax balances resulting from (88) 

an increase in tax rate during the year 
J:I\?.Ui�:Ztll Actual tax expense 198 251 --- ---

1 0  iUJt IJ� MJillH!I. 1 0  Income tax i n  the balance sheet 

(a) iUJtfJ�� �!Illtll.�'!i!ni : (a) Current taxation in the balance sheet represents: 
r::��-il!:t 

Consolidated and the Chamber 
2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

l$:1fll'l§'iUHllUiliiiU Provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year 249 280 
Efifli!11�1J1lltlt Provisional Profits Tax paid (307) � 

� � 

--

----··- J 
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!VI��� 

1 0  ii.IJl.jJ�MITllHl! (Ill) 

(b) E J..IIIllllU!Il!ftA : 
P::f>bU��it 
� <?> � � A � � � e�•����•••�� 
�ttJ : 

e!"H,Jfl!l�sli:'(if..l��•� , 
2002 :tf. 1 Jj 1 8 
- i/ijfliliJ 
- ili!J!Jii.U� 
- ;;ll�1lt 
tHSf>l!U:�a�:t.iJ-.1£ 
2002 'f 1 2  Jj 31 8 ( ;:!Jflilt) 

2003 � 1 Jj 1 8 
- 1J!l�n:J 
- M!!Il:Jilfl 
- ;!J !IUJ( 
tt!i!f.f>ilU:�Ji-�.A.r; 
2003 '!' 12 Jl 31 B 

(c) *J..J&lllit'I!I.Il!Jiil 
ll:ll*iili414.ooo:it (2oo2:tr- : 421 . ooo :it ) e 
RM���� l:'(if.JRil!�m A� · ·� -ftMB 
��!?1 · .:ijr!HJt:l��lll l.ll* �Wl , 

1 1  fUti!U'f&HHT 
tt � - � - · � � - i �-���·���­
n�ail!n l · � � n m$A�·· · ffitt� 
�* * · �m�Il!��� ���- · ���• 
Il!��MB"�� -t� · ���� · ARt 
�� ��t&'i .Z.*if..l 1t�tJ:1:*�Jil]J!ii 1 2� (f} 
m m� · ���2003 . 1 Jl 1 B E�NMI!! 
�magfflilii&m · �ut a 1 (h) • m�lti!lrr 
l!�ft�ti&m · Bf!;f:\:tf.JlifiJlllJI'lhas1.ooo7t 
(2002 � :  29,000 :it) · •. fl�}lZC;llfRi'H' 
991,000 7t (2002 :tf. . 940.000 :it) ' 
-�� ��ftMt�B- · I �Y*�J!JIWM 
• · �&fl!l��fl���·�•� · ���tm 
��11!� · 

12 iiHIHI 

fi�fll f:f&�:'.BMW.Ill 
@litll��-if.f 

-���-�BBW.Ill · �M-8W� · 
litilliS���tfJ e1 m 

@l!!H�£� 
@l/li��i&.il'i 

1 0  Income tax in the balance sheet (continued) 

(b) Deferred tax assets recognised: 
Consolidated and the Chamber 
The components of deferred tax assets recognised in the consolidated balance sheet 
and the movements during the year are as follows: 

Deferred tax arising from: 
At 1 January 2002 

- as previously reported 
- prior period adjustments 

- as restated 
Credited to consolidated income and expenditure statement 

At 31 December 2002 (restated) 

At 1 January 2003 
- as previously reported 
- prior period adjustments 

- as restated 
Credited to consolidated income and expenditure statement 

At 31 December 2003 

:N�m'/Gilifl!tJ!Iflf-1!!_; 
Depreciation allowances 

less than related 
depreciation 

$'000 

9 1 1  
9 1 1  

29 
940 

940 
940 

51 
99 1 

>'?,:}J(�f.tf 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Net deferred tax assets recognised on the balance sheet 991 940 

(c) Deferred tax assets not recognised 
The group has not recognised deferred tax assets of $414,000 (2002: $421 ,000) in 
respect of tax losses. The tax losses do not expire under current tax legislation. 

1 1  Changes in accounting policy 

1 2  

I n  prior years, deferred tax liabilities were provided using the liability method in respect 
of the taxation effect arising from all material timing differences between the accounting 
and tax treatment of income and expenditure, which were expected with reasonable 
probability to crystallise in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets were not 
recognised unless their realisation was assured beyond reasonable doubt. With effect 
from 1 January 2003, in order to comply with Statement of Standard Accounting 
Practice 12 (revised) issued by the Hong Kong Society of Accountants, the group 
adopted a new policy for deferred tax as set out in note 1 (h) . As a result of the 
adoption of this accounting policy, the group's profit for the year has been increased 
by $51 ,000 (2002: $29,000) and the net assets as at the year end have been increased 
by $991 ,000 (2002: $940,000). 
The new accounting policy has been adopted retrospectively, with the opening balance 
of general fund and the comparative information adjusted for the amounts relating to 
prior periods as disclosed in the consolidated statement of changes in equity. 

Fees 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Certificate and GSP fees 26,695 27,124 
Reimbursement to Hong Kong Government � __ (_2) 

26,693 27,122 

EDI fees, including trade declaration and 55,487 55,806 
textile quota licence fees 

Reimbursement to Tradelink (38,961) (40,1 26) 
Reimbursement to Hong Kong Government (1 ,249) (1 ,303) 

1 5,277 14 ,377 
---------- ----------

Others 53 35 ---
42,023 41 ,534 
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1 3  �'J .\!!. & n� �- 1 3  Interest a n d  dividends 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

iE!tlllt!;I:,SH'HHmf'l�. Interest on time deposits and staff loans 576 658 
j<IJ,@.&I!U!. Interest and dividends 
- J:Jli l9:'d: - listed investments 312 3 1 2  
- �l'.tili · M<,lhl9:'d: - unlisted non-trading investments � 999 

3,062 1 ,969 

14 WJ:Uitl.� 1 4  Publications and promotion 2003 2002 

!&A 
$'000 $'000 

Income from - till& - publications 1 ,062 1 . 1 6 1  - flllinam - sundry services 10,550 9,81 4 - tff'1� - seminars 2,529 2 .486 
14 , 141  1 3,461 

�ili Expenditure on 
- tfl)ij - publications 1 ,278 1 ,283 
- Jil ,lh &i!!t.J!Ui - trade and programme promotion 7 .456 7 ,234 
- llili5:&�����1* - advertising and public relations 1 61 39 
- ijj�Ht - seminars 613 730 

- - -�c�9-� ___ Q._�?-� 

)ijli&/\ Net income 4,633 4, 1 75 

1 5  "H1 1 5  Staff 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

�lli · ��!!U&):lt� Salaries, bonus and allowances 36,005 36,323 
an•� alli�=��&B� tt �ma3� Contribution to staff retirement benefit scheme and 3,502 3,412 

(�ttt 23) mandatory provident fund scheme (note 23) 
��Hl&i'iiffilli&:/Hil!ll:ill Staff quarters rental and related expenses 1 ,305 1 .436 
\llHH't'ill Medical expenses 500 370 
IJ 1�HHU!t�� Passage and leave allowances 57 57 
liHIUHil� Training and recruiting 1 1 2  483 
flljj Sundries 44 44 

41 ,525 42,125 

16 lbl$4 16 Office 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

flllli&lt!!J Rent and rates 2,870 3,097 
li!J'i Light and power 308 347 
lit·ii� Telephone 1 76 2 1 5  
EIHil'l&xA Printing and stationery 1 ,058 1 ,21 7 

�w Postage 501 533 
�!t · tl< l� &iiU1 Maintenance, repairs and cleaning 409 535 
IDW Books and newspapers 55 84 
.<j\; ll!l )(iel !{' Local travelling 80 83 

Sf-!lll� Motor car expenses 55 41 

iilil!lll:iZ Sundry expenses 301 3 1 3  

5,813 6.465 

1 7  nun'i 1 7  Services 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

!UBI' Audit fees 226 1 98 
ii'] (!l! � Treasurers' fees 460 744 
n;tnW:!!Hl' Legal and professional fees 1 73 159 
�HHI' Computing fees 944 747 
l9:'d:M!�!& � Investment manager's fees 241 280 
i*ffHl' Insurance 527 583 

� � 

. .  
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Hong Kong General Chamber of Commerce 

1 8  Depreciation and deficit on disposal of fixed assets 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Depreciation on fixed assets (note 2(a)) 3,970 4,528 
Deficit on disposal of fixed assets 7 ---

3,977 4.528 ---

1 9  Subscriptions and donations 2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

Trade organisations' subscriptions 82 1 1 5  
Project sponsorship 1 72 
Donations 52 

306 1 1 5 --- ---

20 Surplus after taxation 
The surplus after taxation includes a surplus of $ 1 8,956,000 (2002 restated: 
$4,131 .000) which has been dealt with in the financial statements of the Chamber. 

21 Investment revaluation reserve 

At 1 January 
Revaluation surplus/(deficit) 

At 31 December 

22 Commitments 

l<'fi&J!im. 
Consolidated and the Chamber 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

{3,871) 
10,519 
6,648 

{1 ,879) 
( 1 ,992) 
{3,871 } 

At 31 December 2003, the total future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases in respect of properties are payable as follows: t:::SJH!.r.}• 

Consolidated and the Chamber 

Within 1 year 
After 1 year but within 5 years 

2003 2002 
$'000 $'000 

1 ,018  
520 

� 

1 .726 
143 

1 ,869 

The Chamber leases a number of properties under operating leases. The leases 
typically run for an initial period of two to three years. with an option to renew the 
lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases includes contingent rentals. 

23 Employee benefits 
(i) Salaries. annual bonuses. paid annual leave and the cost to the Chamber of non­

monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the associated services are 
rendered by employees of the Chamber. 

(iij The Chamber operates a defined contribution staff retirement benefit scheme for 
the qualifying staff of the Chamber and its subsidiary. The assets of the scheme 
are held separately by an investment manager. 
Employees not previously covered by the defined contribution staff retirement 
benefit scheme are covered by a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme ('MPF' 
Scheme) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. 
The MPF Scheme is a defined contribution retirement scheme administered by 
independent trustees. 
Contributions applicable to each year are charged to the income and expenditure 
statement for the year (note 1 5). 

24 Material related party transactions 
During 200 1 .  the Chamber renewed a lease agreement for one of its investment 
properties with an association in which it has the only voting right at the association's 
general meetings. The lease term was for three years from 1 September 2001 onwards 
at an agreed monthly rental of $129,375. 

25 Comparative figures 
Certain comparative figures have been adjusted as a result of the change in accounting 
policy for deferred taxation. details of which are set out in note 1 1 .  

Annual Report 2003 





HKGC@ 
Hong Kong General Chamber of Commcr(e 

� !U!'!t itY:i 'll!t l861 

22/F United Centre, 95 Queensway, Hong Kong 
� � :t � ffi 9 s 5m %f. - $ ,c,, 2 2 11 

Tel �U% 2529 9229 Fax 1�� 2527 9843 
E-mail �j) chamber@chamber.org.hk 

www.chamber.org.hk 




